**ENGLISH** only



## ROLE OF DEFENCE LAWYERS IN GUARANTEEING A FAIR TRIAL

**Final Report** 

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
II. RECOMMENDATIONS	6
III. SUMMARIES AND OUTCOME OF THE SESSIONS	9
SESSION I: Access to Legal Counsel	9
SESSION II: Admission to and Regulation of the Bar	11
SESSION III: Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings	13
W. ANDERVEG	1.0
IV. ANNEXES	16
ANNEX I: Agenda	16
ANNEX II: Annotated Agenda	18
ANNEX III: Opening Address by Ambassador Puhar	22
ANNEX IV: Opening Remarks of Ambassador Strohal	25
ANNEX V: Biographical Information on Speakers and Introducers	28
ANNEX VI: Keynote Speech of Sir Sydney Kentridge	32
ANNEX VII: Introductory Speeches to the Working Sessions	38
ANNEX VIII: Closing Remarks of Ambassador Strohal	54
ANNEX IX: List of Participants	57

### I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Supplementary Human Dimension Implementation Meeting (SHDM) was held in Tbilisi, Georgia on 3-4 November 2005, on "The Role of Defence Lawyers in Guaranteeing a Fair Trial." This was the first SHDM ever held outside of Vienna. It was attended by over 270 participants, which included over 200 non-governmental representatives, most of whom were practicing defence lawyers in their own countries. Present were 24 governmental delegations. Seventeen of these included diplomatic representatives, five of which were from their respective diplomatic missions in Tbilisi. In addition to this vibrant participation, there was also a distinguished group of Introducers and a Keynote Speaker. Included in the Appendix of this Report are the text of the Keynote Speech, text and summaries of introductions given in each Session, and biographies of the Introducers and the Keynote Speaker.

This was the first time the OSCE had held a Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting devoted to the topic of defence lawyers. This meeting successfully acknowledged the fundamentally important role of defence lawyers in criminal proceedings. There was lively discussion throughout the meeting and a series of recommendations were made. The Meeting was divided into three Sessions: Access to Legal Counsel; Admission to and Regulation of the Bar; and Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings.

Discussions in Session One on Access to Legal Counsel focused on the fact that in many participating States those who are arrested or detained do not have easy or quick access to a lawyer and often have no access to legal counsel at all. This situation is prevalent often despite guarantees to the contrary existing in law. Individual examples were given by numerous speakers of the consequences when those arrested or detained are denied access to a lawyer. These included instances of ill treatment and torture in addition to denial of a fair trial, as defendants without legal training or background are inadequately prepared to represent themselves in court.

Issues that influence the quality of legal services include whether or not lawyers are paid adequately to handle cases where the state is paying the legal fees because the defendant is unable to afford a lawyer. There was much discussion on different models of providing legal aid and their relative advantages and disadvantages. The related problem of incompetent defence counsel or those who collude with the police and prosecution was also discussed.

Many participants discussed the fact that they are often unable to have confidential conversations with their clients. Talking in private to one's lawyer is a fundamental right and one that affects the lawyer's ability to competently represent their client. In some participating States the physical facilities in many detention centres preclude the possibility of confidential communications. Often there are no separate interview rooms so conversations take place in the presence of police and prosecutors. Another serious problem discussed was breaches of confidentiality due to direct acts by the government. Some participants discussed instances when conversations between lawyers and their clients were subjected to electronic surveillance.

A related problem impacting on the right to legal counsel is when lawyers have to petition the police or the prosecution for permission to see their clients. This presents serious structural impediments to the right to legal counsel as it delays when lawyers can see their clients and often has the effect of preventing these meetings from taking place at all.

Session II was devoted to Admission to and Regulation of the Bar and discussed a range of complex issues and challenges that lawyers and policy makers confront in reform of the legal profession. Many of the participants discussed the need for a bar which is independent, particularly from state control.

It was pointed out that many participating States suffer from a shortage of defence lawyers who can represent clients in criminal cases. This shortage can in some instances be traced to the absence of an open, transparent and fair procedure for bar admission, resulting in few new lawyers being admitted to practice. The participants discussed some of the problems contributing to overly restrictive bar admission procedures including nepotism, the desire to limit competition, and discriminatory practices. In some participating States limiting these excesses can be difficult if bar admission is left entirely to the discretion of the bar. The participants therefore noted the strong public interest in ensuring fair, objective, transparent and non-discriminatory bar admission policies.

The role of bar associations was also discussed. One important function of the bar identified by many of the participants was that of defending individual lawyers from pressure and persecution by the authorities, particularly when lawyers are handling politically unpopular cases. Another important function of the bar is maintaining high professional standards among its members. Participants discussed how this can be done through rules of professional ethics and conduct and through disciplinary procedures. Also discussed was the need for continuing legal education for all lawyers and the need to assist young lawyers in developing their skills.

Session III dealt with Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings. Discussions during this Session focused on practical problems that defence lawyers face, as well as laws which are unequal to the defence and in favour of the prosecution. The participants discussed restraints on lawyers during the pre-trial stage of proceedings including the fact that in parts of the OSCE region lawyers are prevented from investigating a case on behalf of their client, or arranging for independent forensic expertise. They are required under the law to rely only on what is presented by the police and prosecuting agencies.

Some participating States still allow the prosecutor to decide if a person should remain in custody. Participants noted many illegal results from this practice including increased instances of ill treatment, pressure to confess, and torture. Transferring the power to authorize arrest to the judiciary was discussed as an element of reform needed to improve equality of parties in criminal proceedings.

Under law in virtually all participating States, defence lawyers have the right to access court files and prosecution files. This right is often restricted, with the reason given that there are no facilities for lawyers to read the files or make copies, or by limiting the amount of time a defence lawyer may spend reviewing the documents in a particular file.

During the trial itself defence lawyers are often unable to present evidence in the same manner as the prosecution, and they are often treated fundamentally differently. Many participants noted the close social relationship between judges and prosecutors, which contributes to favouritism in court towards the prosecutors. Participants discussed how defendants are treated in court and the impact this has on fundamental principles such as the presumption of innocence. One example given was the use of a cage in many courtrooms, obliging defendants to sit in this restricted area. The impact of the use of the cage is that visually it makes the defendant appear guilty and dangerous, thus eroding presumption of innocence, and it also prevents lawyers having free communication with their clients in court. The participants discussed the value of limiting the use of restraining devices on defendants (such as the cage, handcuffs or other visible restraints) only to instances in which the court makes a finding that the particular defendant poses a particular risk.

The participants also noted that the type of trial record-keeping system has a serious impact on the equality of the proceedings. In many participating States the court record is maintained by handwritten notes made by a court secretary. Participants discussed the value of electronic and verbatim recording to ensure an accurate and unbiased record of court proceedings. This is particularly important for the record on appeal so that it is not slanted towards the view of the prosecution or the judge, but rather is an accurate record of the actual proceedings.

The participants also discussed the fact that achieving equality between the parties can be more difficult in politically unpopular cases including cases of alleged terrorism.

The SHDM resulted in a number of recommendations.

### II. RECOMMENDATIONS

### Recommendations to the OSCE participating States:

- Ensure that existing legislation providing for the right of access to legal counsel is effectively implemented in practice. This should include, where laws exist, prosecution for illegally denying lawyers' access to their clients.
- Create or encourage the creation of monitoring institutions including NGOs and civil society to ensure adherence to the right of access to legal counsel in practice.
- Ensure that defence lawyers are adequately paid for their services when they are rendered as mandatory appointed counsel or as a part of a legal aid programme.
- Ensure that defence lawyers serve their clients without inappropriate pressure or intimidation from governmental authorities.
- Ensure that lawyers' communication with their clients is confidential and in complete privacy.
- Ensure that the personal security of lawyers is not compromised by searches, investigations, interrogations or prosecution for crimes due to their actions in representing a client in a particular case.
- Ensure that fair and transparent procedures exist to investigate and sanction misconduct by defence lawyers including failure to provide competent and ethical legal assistance.
- Consider adopting legislation to require that all questioning of suspects in serious cases is either audio tape recorded or videotaped.
- Those OSCE participating States that do not currently have *habeas corpus* legislation providing for judicial authorization and review of arrest and detention should adopt it, and those that do should ensure its full implementation.
- Ensure that admission to the legal practice is transparent, free of nepotism and corruption, and based on objective and fair criteria. Accordingly, introduce examinations that objectively test the professional knowledge and skills of the prospective lawyers.
- Ensure that admission to the legal practice is non-discriminatory and on an
  equal footing. In particular, States that have special provisions allowing
  former judges, prosecutors, and law enforcement officers to become
  defence lawyers on a privileged basis should ensure that these individuals
  are admitted to practice on an equal footing with other qualified
  candidates.

- Create favourable conditions and provide assistance to bar associations in organizing legal education and training programmes to ensure lawyers receive adequate initial and continuing training and regular upgrading of their professional knowledge.
- Ensure that disciplinary bodies for the legal profession are independent and free from political interference. Ensure also that lawyers against whom disciplinary action is taken have recourse to judicial review.
- Ensure a balanced regulation of the legal profession which takes into account public interests and the independence of the bar.
- Take special note of the principles embodied in Recommendation (2000) 21 of the Council of Europe's Committee of Ministers to member States on the freedom of exercise of the profession of lawyer.
- Introduce objective quality standards and monitoring mechanisms for the lawyers who provide services to criminal defendants by appointment or through a legal aid programme.
- Take steps to ensure favourable conditions and create special incentives for lawyers practicing in rural areas and other areas where lawyers are in short supply.
- Ensure that legislative and, where appropriate, financial provisions are made equal for defence lawyers in order to enable them to gather evidence, including retaining independent forensic and investigatory expertise, thereby ensuring the equality of parties during the investigation and ultimately during the trial.
- Ensure that the defence is given unimpeded access to all available evidence and information held by the prosecuting or police authorities at the earliest possible stage during the proceedings.
- Ensure that there are mechanisms for complaints against prosecutors allowing for the fair adjudication of alleged violations of legal or disciplinary provisions by prosecutors.
- Ensure finality of criminal proceedings, including that appeals of acquittals are not permitted other than exceptionally in order to prevent gross procedural violations. Prosecutors who fail to adequately prepare the case for trial resulting in an acquittal should not be given the opportunity to try again. Criminal procedure should ensure that prosecutors have the same burden as the defence in preparing each case in a competent and comprehensive fashion at the earliest practicable stage.
- Ensure that presumption of innocence is protected particularly through the treatment of the defendant in court. Specifically, the practice of placing defendants who present no security risk in cages or subjecting them to other physical restraints should be reconsidered, requiring instead a

- specific finding by the court that the particular defendant poses a particular risk prior to the use of any physical restraints in court.
- Ensure transparent, unbiased, and accurate record-keeping of trial proceedings through the use of modern verbatim transcript technologies or electronic recording.
- Ensure that legal aid is extended to all cases involving any form of detention or deprivation of liberty, including, as applicable, administrative or disciplinary matters specifically and especially those administrative cases involving persons in detention.

### Recommendations to the OSCE, its Institutions and Field Missions:

- The OSCE should assist the participating States in developing indicators to monitor the implementation of *habeas corpus* legislation.
- The OSCE should facilitate exchange of best practices among the participating States in regulation of the legal profession, including admission to the legal practice, disciplinary procedures, and continuing education and training for lawyers.
- The OSCE should develop recommendations to the participating States on regulation of the legal profession, taking into account the need for independent bar associations and balancing them with public interest of access to affordable legal services.
- The OSCE should monitor and address instances of persecution of lawyers by the authorities related to their performance of professional duties.
- The OSCE should provide or facilitate training to assist the participating States in the implementation of new or improved criminal procedural legislation.
- The OSCE should provide assistance to improve legislation allowing lawyers to gather evidence in criminal proceedings.
- The OSCE/ODIHR should provide assistance in the assessment and improvement of criminal procedural legislation where necessary.
- The OSCE/ODIHR should provide assistance in the area of trial monitoring by providing practical information and exchange of best practices including compiling a guide to assist in the improvement of trial monitoring programmes in compliance with the OSCE commitments.
- The OSCE/ODIHR should provide assistance, as requested, to the participating States in legislative reform aimed at providing better protection for clients and access to legal counsel.
- The OSCE should avoid scheduling future Human Dimension Meetings on dates coinciding with major religious holidays.

### III. SUMMARIES AND OUTCOME OF THE SESSIONS

### **Session I: Access to Legal Counsel**

Moderator: Ms. Cynthia Alkon, Head of the ODIHR Rule of Law Unit

Introducers: Mr. Michael Judge, Head of the Public Defender Office in Los Angeles County, USA

Mr. Daniyar Kanafin, Lawyer, Kazakhstan

The reports from the introducers provided examples of one model of legal aid from the United States, specifically from the Los Angeles County Public Defender's Office, and discussed some of the concerns and constraints on the right to legal counsel using the example of Kazakhstan. The discussions during this working session identified four major problems relating to access to legal counsel that exist in some OSCE participating States.

Firstly, individual lawyers and NGOs reported that despite domestic legislation and international obligations guaranteeing the right of access to lawyers, this right is not respected in practice. It was noted by various speakers that immediate access to legal counsel in criminal proceedings is the single most effective preventative measure against ill treatment and torture.

Secondly, participants discussed the issues of lawyers' remuneration, independence and qualification. Without adequate pay lawyers have little incentive to provide high-quality legal services and are not in a position to properly prepare their cases. Regarding the independence of lawyers, individual speakers referred to instances where lawyers appeared to be acting under instructions from government officials, such as police officers, rather than their clients.

Thirdly, individual speakers reported that lawyer-client communications are routinely not conducted in private. Specific examples of inadequate interview facilities were discussed, such as when lawyer-client meetings are conducted in rooms with prison staff, police or prosecutors present and able to overhear conversations. Of even greater concern were examples of wiretapping of confidential communications between lawyers and their clients.

Fourthly, lawyers' personal security was discussed. Speakers referred to cases where lawyers' offices were searched and where lawyers were investigated and prosecuted following the representation of particularly controversial clients.

The following specific recommendations were made in Session I:

### Recommendations to the OSCE participating States:

• Ensure that existing legislation providing for the right to access legal counsel is effectively implemented in practice. This should include, where laws exist, prosecution for illegally denying lawyers' access to their clients.

- Create or encourage the creation of monitoring institutions including NGOs and civil society to ensure adherence to the right of access to legal counsel in practice.
- Ensure that defence lawyers are adequately paid for their services when they are rendered as mandatory appointed counsel or as a part of a legal aid programme.
- Ensure that defence lawyers are able to serve their clients without inappropriate pressure or intimidation from governmental authorities.
- Ensure that lawyers' communication with their clients is confidential and in complete privacy.
- Ensure that the personal security of lawyers is not compromised by searches, investigations, interrogations or prosecution due to their actions representing a client in a particular case.
- Ensure that fair and transparent procedures exist to investigate and sanction misconduct by defence lawyers including failure to provide competent and ethical legal assistance.
- Consider adopting legislation to require that all questioning of suspects in serious cases is electronically recorded or videotaped.
- The OSCE participating States that do not currently have habeas corpus legislation providing for judicial authorization and review of arrest and detention should adopt it, and those that do should ensure its full implementation.

### Recommendations to the OSCE, its Institutions and Field Missions:

- The OSCE/ODIHR should provide assistance in the area of trial monitoring by providing practical information and exchange of best practices including compiling a guide to assist in the improvement of trial monitoring programmes in compliance with the OSCE commitments.
- The OSCE/ODIHR should provide assistance, as requested, to the participating States in legislative reform aimed at providing better protection for clients and access to legal counsel.
- The OSCE should assist in developing indicators to monitor the implementation of *habeas corpus* legislation.
- The OSCE should avoid scheduling future Human Dimension Meetings on dates coinciding with major religious holidays.

### Session II: Admission to and Regulation of the Bar

Moderator: Ms. Cynthia Alkon, Head of the ODIHR Rule of Law Unit

Introducers: Mr. Leonard Cyrson, Lawyer, Partner of Advocate
Office, Poland
Dr. Margarete von Galen, Lawyer, Chair of the Berlin Bar,
Germany

Discussions in Session II demonstrated the complexities and challenges faced by the lawyers and by the policy makers involved in reform of the legal profession.

The reports from introducers gave an overview of the bar structure and admission procedures in Germany and Poland. The reports also highlighted the main issues to be considered when regulating and reforming the bar. What transpired as particularly important was the issue of retention of the independence of the bar, in particular, from State control.

Subsequent reports from the floor highlighted the need for a strong and independent bar association. Speakers from several countries, including the Russian Federation and Uzbekistan, cited instances of intimidation and pressure that outspoken defence lawyers may face. They emphasized the need for stronger support first of all from their peers in the legal community. Defending individual lawyers from pressure and persecution by the authorities was mentioned as one of the main goals of the bar.

Another important function of the bar discussed in the Session was maintaining high professional standards among its members. In this regard, several speakers highlighted that this should be achieved through instituting rules of professional ethics and conduct, and policing them through disciplinary procedures. Other speakers also emphasized the need for an effort by the bar to ensure continuing legal education for all its members. Developing the professional skills of young lawyers was deemed particularly important. Recommendations to that effect were made to the bar associations of the participating States.

Issues of admission to legal practice were the subject of a particularly lively debate. Several speakers expressed concern over excessive State involvement in admission to the practice of law and advocated for the bar's complete independence in deciding who should join its ranks. Others, however, pointed to the fact that leaving admissions entirely to the discretion of the bar may lead to nepotism, corruption, and discriminatory admission. They emphasized both the public interest in having access to legal assistance and the interest of qualified young lawyers in joining the profession on a non-discriminatory basis. A recommendation was made to the participating States to balance these interests in regulating admission procedures and to ensure transparent admission based on objective and fair criteria.

Frequent calls from the floor were also made to the lawyers themselves to be more active and engaged in the issues related to their professional activities, including the independence of the bar and the adoption of legislation ensuring fair trial guarantees.

The following specific recommendations were made in Session II:

## Recommendations to the OSCE participating States:

- Ensure that admission to the legal practice is transparent, free of nepotism and corruption, and based on objective and fair criteria. Accordingly, introduce examinations that objectively test the professional knowledge and skills of the prospective lawyers.
- Ensure that admission to the legal practice is non-discriminatory and on an
  equal footing. In particular, States that have special provisions allowing
  former judges, prosecutors, and law enforcement officers to become
  defence lawyers on a privileged basis, should repeal these provisions and
  ensure that these individuals are admitted to practice on an equal footing
  with other qualified candidates.
- Create favourable conditions and provide assistance to bar associations in organizing legal education and training programmes to ensure lawyers receive adequate initial and continuing training and regular upgrading of their professional knowledge.
- Ensure that disciplinary bodies for the legal profession are independent and free from political interference. Ensure also that lawyers against whom disciplinary action is taken have recourse to judicial review.
- Ensure balanced regulation of the legal profession that takes into account public interests and independence of the bar.
- Take special note of the principles embodied in Recommendation (2000) 21 of the Council of Europe's Committee of Ministers to member States on the freedom of exercise of the profession of lawyer.
- Introduce objective quality standards and monitoring mechanisms for the lawyers who provide services to criminal defendants by appointment or through a legal aid programme.
- Take steps to ensure favourable conditions and create special incentives for lawyers practicing in rural areas and other areas where lawyers are in short supply.

### Recommendations to the OSCE, its Institutions and Field Missions:

- The OSCE should facilitate exchange of best practices among the participating States in regulation of the legal profession, including admission to the legal practice, disciplinary procedures, and continuing education and training for lawyers.
- The OSCE should develop recommendations to the participating States on regulation of the legal profession, taking into account the need for independent bar associations and balancing them with public interest of access to affordable legal services.

• The OSCE should monitor and address instances of persecution of lawyers by the authorities related to their performance of professional duties.

## Session III: Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings

Moderator: Ms. Cynthia Alkon, Head of the ODIHR Rule of Law Unit

**Introducers: Ms. Louise Christian**, Lawyer, United Kingdom **Mr. Yuri Schmidt**, Lawyer, Russian Federation

This session began with introductions from prominent lawyers from the United Kingdom and the Russian Federation who discussed the challenges faced by defence lawyers in the face of inequality between the parties in criminal proceedings. Discussions were very wide-ranging, from the rights of victims, the role of prosecutors, and provision of legal aid to the politically motivated persecution of lawyers against the background of several different systems. However, several consistent lines emerged.

First, participants discussed the difficulties faced by defence lawyers when they are prevented under law from investigating cases independently on behalf of their clients, including lack of access to independent forensic expertise. Many participants discussed the problem of being forced to rely on inadequate investigation by the police who fail to look for exonerating evidence on behalf of their clients. Also discussed was the problem of only having access to court-appointed state forensic experts who are often not impartial in their approach or their findings. Participants discussed the need to change laws responsible for these restrictions, expand the rights of defence lawyers to gather evidence, and to ensure that the State provides adequate funding so that all defendants who need independent investigation or forensic expertise are able to get it. This was discussed in the context of being a prerequisite to a fair trial as access to independent investigation and forensic expertise are crucial elements in trial preparation.

Also discussed was the dependency of fairness of trials not only on what is in the law but also on how fairly the parties are treated in criminal proceedings. If individual prosecutors are unfair, the defence lawyer's job is made doubly difficult. This problem is compounded by serious a systemic imbalance in many participating States. One example given by several participants is the continuing supervisory role of prosecutors in determining whether an individual remains in custody. There are still countries in the OSCE region that have not yet transferred the power to authorize arrest and detention in custody to the judiciary. Participants stressed the inherent unfairness of prosecutors retaining this extraordinary power, as well as the fact that this does not comply with relevant international provisions.

The role of prosecutors in ensuring fairness was repeatedly stressed. The systemic encouragement of excessive closeness between the judicial and prosecutorial authorities was discussed. Similarly, the excessive closeness of the executive and judicial branches in many participating States was noted. The practice in some participating States of prosecutors conferring with judges during their deliberations was severely criticized. In addition, violations by prosecutors of

procedural legislation often go unaddressed and unpunished. The need for appropriate regulation of prosecutors was stressed by several participants as well as the need to change the culture of impunity that allows them to violate the law without any consequences.

The practice of placing accused persons in cages or placing them under any visible restraint (such as handcuffs) was criticized as eroding the presumption of innocence. Such restraints create a clear visual implication that the person is either dangerous or culpable, or both. Some systems do not permit such practices except when there has been a finding by the court that it is necessary due to a particular defendant posing a particular risk.

There was some debate concerning defendants' access to and choice of their counsel when they are indigent and therefore cannot afford to hire a lawyer and are dependent on the state appointing a lawyer. One view was that a well-regulated criminal defence service, such as a public defender office, ensures proper representation. Another view taken was that properly regulated private lawyers funded by legal aid agencies can provide excellent services. All participants agreed on the need for some form of monitoring of the performance of advocates to ensure that clients receive a competent defence.

The interdependency of all parts of the criminal justice system was apparent including the police, judiciary, prosecutors and defence lawyers. Participants emphasized that no meaningful reform of one part of the system can take place without the involvement and co-operation of the other branches.

The following specific recommendations were made in Session III:

### Recommendations to the OSCE participating States:

- Ensure that legislative and, where appropriate, financial provisions are made equal for defence lawyers to enable them to gather evidence, including retaining independent forensic and investigatory expertise, thereby ensuring the equality of parties during the investigation and ultimately during the trial.
- Ensure that the defence is given unimpeded access to all available evidence and information held by the prosecuting or police authorities at the earliest possible stage during the proceedings.
- Ensure that there are mechanisms for complaints against prosecutors, allowing for the fair adjudication of alleged violations of procedural legislation by prosecutors.
- Ensure finality of criminal proceedings, including that appeals of
  acquittals are not permitted other exceptionally in order to prevent gross
  procedural violations. Prosecutors who fail to adequately prepare the case
  for the trial resulting in an acquittal should not be given the opportunity to
  try again. Criminal procedures should ensure that prosecutors have the
  same burden as the defence in preparing each case in a competent and
  complete fashion at the earliest practicable stage.

- Ensure that presumption of innocence is protected particularly through the treatment of the defendant in court. Specifically, the practice of placing defendants who present no security risk in cages or subjecting them to other physical restraints should be reconsidered requiring instead a specific finding by the court that the particular defendant poses a particular risk prior to the use of any physical restraints in court.
- Ensure transparent, unbiased, and accurate record-keeping of trial proceedings through the use of modern verbatim transcript technologies or electronic recording.
- Adhere to the existing OSCE commitments as well as other international standards concerning the role of prosecutors. Those systems which still allow the prosecuting body the power to arrest and authorise continuing detention should transfer those powers to the judiciary in accordance with the relevant international standards.
- Ensure that access to legal counsel is provided in all cases involving any form of detention or deprivation of liberty, including as applicable administrative or disciplinary matters.
- Ensure that lawyer-client communications are conducted with complete confidentiality and privacy.

### Recommendations to the OSCE, its Institutions and Field Missions:

- The OSCE should monitor States' compliance with their freely undertaken human rights commitments.
- The OSCE should provide or facilitate training to assist the participating States in the implementation of new or improved criminal procedural legislation.
- The OSCE should provide assistance to improve legislation allowing lawyers to gather evidence in criminal proceedings.
- The OSCE/ODIHR should provide assistance in the assessment and improvement of criminal procedural legislation where necessary.

#### ANNEX I **AGENDA**



### SUPPLEMENTARY HUMAN DIMENSION MEETING

## "ROLE OF DEFENCE LAWYERS IN GUARANTEEING A **FAIR TRIAL"**

## **3-4 NOVEMBER 2005** TBILISI, GEORGIA

### **AGENDA**

Day 1 Thursday, 3 November 2005

09:00 - 09:45 **Opening Session:** 

Opening remarks:

Representative of the Host Country:

Mr. Gela Bezhuashvili, Minister of

Foreign Affairs

Mr. Konstantine Kemularia, Minister of Justice

A representative of the OSCE Chairmanship Amb. Jozica Puhar, Ambassador to Georgia, Head of the Delegation of the Slovenian Chairmanship

OSCE/ ODIHR Director Amb. Christian Strohal

Keynote speech:

Sir Sydney Kentridge, QC (United Kingdom)

Technical information by the OSCE/ODIHR

09:45 - 10:00 Break

10.00 - 13.00 **Session I: Access to Legal Counsel** 

*Introductory speeches:* 

Mr. Michael Judge (United States of America) Mr. Daniyar Kanafin (Kazakhstan)

Moderator: Ms. Cynthia Alkon (ODIHR)

Discussion

13:00 - 15:00 Lunch

## 15.00 - 18.00 Session II: Admission to and Regulation of the Bar

*Introductory speeches:* 

Dr. Margarete von Galen (Germany) Mr. Leonard Cyrson (Poland)

Moderator: Ms. Cynthia Alkon (ODIHR)

Discussion

18:30 Reception offered by the Host Country

Day 2 Friday, 4 November 2005

### 10.00 - 13.00 Session III: Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings

*Introductory speeches:* 

Ms. Louise Christian (United Kingdom) Mr. Yury M. Schmidt (Russia)

Moderator: Ms. Cynthia Alkon (ODIHR)

Discussion

13.00 - 14.00 Break

**14.00- 15.00** CLOSING PLENARY

Reports by the Working Session Rapporteurs Comments from the floor

**15.00** Close of Day 2

### ANNEX II ANNOTATED AGENDA



### SUPPLEMENTARY HUMAN DIMENSION MEETING

## "ROLE OF DEFENCE LAWYERS IN GUARANTEEING A FAIR TRIAL"

## 3-4 November 2005 Tbilisi, Georgia

### ANNOTATED AGENDA

### **OVERVIEW**

Defence lawyers play a vital role in ensuring the right to a fair trial. Access to legal counsel is one of key fair trial guarantees which is recognized in international human rights law and reiterated in the OSCE commitments. The Vienna Document (1989) reaffirms the commitment of the participating States to the right to a fair and public hearing, including "the right to present legal arguments and to be represented by the legal counsel of one's choice" (para 13.9). The Copenhagen Document (1990) adds that "any person prosecuted will have the right to defend himself in person or through prompt legal assistance of his own choosing or, if he does not have sufficient means to pay for legal assistance, to be given it free when the interests of justice so require" (para 5.17).

The UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers (1990) emphasize the importance of the right to access lawyers and legal services, the special safeguards that should exist in criminal cases, and the need to guarantee both training for lawyers and open, non-discriminatory admission to the practice of law.

Availability of lawyers may be viewed as a "threshold" indicator of fair trial standards. A recent study by the Council of Europe's Commission for the Efficiency of Justice reveals that there are States in the OSCE area where fewer than 4 lawyers per 10,000 of the population are admitted to legal practice. This contrasts with an average of 10 lawyers per 10,000 for European Union countries in the same survey. Low numbers of lawyers is rightfully recognized as a problem in some countries and efforts are underway to reform admission to the bar to expand bar membership.

Access to legal counsel must be ensured by appropriate procedural safeguards. Fair trial guarantees apply to all stages of the criminal procedure, not just the court hearing per se. Defence lawyers in many OSCE participating States face obstacles and constraints that inhibit their ability to effectively defend their clients

and ensure that they get a fair trial. Equality of arms of the prosecution and defence is still merely a declaration of intent in some OSCE States, rather than a principle of criminal procedure embodied in appropriate legislative measures and practice.

The meeting will focus on three main areas:

- Access to Legal Counsel
- Admission to and Regulation of the Bar
- Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings

Recommendations may be addressed to the OSCE as a whole, the participating States, OSCE institutions including the Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights and to the OSCE field operations.

### THURSDAY, 3 NOVEMBER

10:00 – 13:00 SESSION ONE

### **Access to Legal Counsel**

Right to legal counsel is a recognized fair trial guarantee that may be found in legislation of nearly all OSCE States. However, the practical implementation of this right varies, as does the role of defence lawyers at the pre-trial stage of criminal proceedings.

Early access to legal advice in the course of criminal proceedings serves as a preventative measure against illegal treatment and forced confessions. Defence lawyers are often the first to learn about instances of forced confessions obtained through illegal treatment or torture. Their professionalism is essential to the effectiveness of redress for victims and prosecution of perpetrators.

Possible discussion topics for this session:

- Access to a lawyer after arrest or detention and at all stages of criminal proceedings: in law and in practice. Does the legal framework in the OSCE participating States adequately protect this right? Are there problems in practice that deviate from the right guaranteed under law?
- Access to clients by the lawyers and confidentiality of lawyer-client communications. Do defence lawyers have access to their clients at early stages? If a client is in custody, are there adequate safeguards to ensure for lawyer-client meetings to be conducted in privacy? Is the confidentiality of lawyer files and lawyer-client communication protected adequately under law and in practice in the OSCE participating States?
- State interference and restrictions on the right to legal counsel. How can OSCE participating States balance the right to legal counsel with security concerns? Are there OSCE participating States where the legal framework is

insufficient, favouring investigators and the investigative process at the expense of the right to legal counsel?

• Access to legal counsel for the indigent and provision of legal aid. What models are participating States using to ensure indigent citizens' right to legal counsel, particularly in criminal cases?

15:00 - 18:00 SESSION TWO

### Admission to and Regulation of the Bar

A strong well-functioning bar is more than an important institution of the legal system – it is an influential element of a democratic society. The bar not only upholds high professional standards for its members but also frequently acts as a lobbyist for positive change and provides an independent corrective to proposals for legislation that may compromise international human rights standards.

Bar reform issues are intrinsically intertwined with access to legal counsel and other fair trial guarantees.

Possible discussion topics for this session:

- How to ensure transparent merit-based admission to the bar? In countries with low numbers of practicing lawyers, the problem is often not the lack of law graduates but rather an overly restrictive bar admission procedure that makes it difficult for new lawyers to be admitted to practice based solely on merit. Discussion may also include bar examination models that help to ensure that the process of admission to the bar is transparent and based on merit, not connections or corruption.
- Structure of the bar and forms of legal practice. How are bar associations structured in the participating States? Do these structures create undue restrictions on legal practice?
- Independence and governance of the bar. An independent bar is an essential element to guaranteeing the right the counsel. What are the various working models for independent bar associations in the participating States? How is independence of the bar ensured? How do independent bar associations act to protect the rights of defence lawyers?
- Training and continuing legal education. For lawyers to provide competent legal assistance, they must regularly update their knowledge. How is this ensured in the participating States? How can training and continuing education be improved and made more widely available?
- Professional ethics and disciplinary procedures. How are professional ethics standards set? How are lawyers who fail to meet those standards disciplined? What disciplinary procedures are in place that guarantee the independence of the bar, ensure that lawyers adhere to high professional standards, and protect against targeting lawyers who are outspoken on behalf of their clients?

### FRIDAY, 4 NOVEMBER

10:00 – 13:00 SESSION THREE

### **Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings**

Equality of arms between the prosecution and defence is a fundamental principle for a fair trial. This principle dictates that defence should be in an equal position with the prosecution in criminal trials. In some States of the OSCE area this principle is merely a declaration. Defence lawyers have limited rights and sometimes cannot perform their duties because of interference or harassment.

Possible discussion topics for this session:

- Role of defence lawyers at the pre-trial stages of proceedings. Are there OSCE participating States where the legal framework needs to be improved to strengthen the role of defence lawyers during pre-trial proceedings to insure they are able to adequately represent their clients' interests at all stages of the criminal process?
- Access to the prosecution's files. Both in law and in practice, do defence lawyers have the right to access the files of the prosecution to ensure access to all information gathered by the state against their client?
- Rights of defence lawyers vis-à-vis gathering and presentation of evidence. Can defence lawyers gather evidence and investigate cases for their clients? Are defence lawyers limited in their ability to present evidence in court on behalf of their clients?
- Equality of arms during the trial. Does the legislative framework adequately guarantee that the defence and prosecution are treated equally during trial? If the legislative framework is sufficient, how do the OSCE participating States guarantee the protection of this principle in practice?

# ANNEX III: OPENING REMARKS OF AMBASSADOR MS. JOŽICA PUHAR



### (on behalf of the OSCE Chairman-in-Office Dr Dimitrij Rupel)

PC.SHDM.DEL/41/05 3 November 2005

**OPENING ADDRESS** 

**ENGLISH** only

OSCE Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting "Role of Defence Lawyers in Guaranteeing a Fair Trial"

3-4 November 2005-10-30 Tbilisi, Georgia

Dear Ministers, Director of the ODIHR, Ladies and Gentlemen,

### (Welcoming remarks)

On behalf of the OSCE Chairman-in-Office Dr Dimitrij Rupel I would like to welcome you here in Tbilisi in Georgia to discuss different aspects of the role of defence lawyers in guaranteeing a fair trial.

This is the third OSCE Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting held this year. The first SHDM was organized in April regarding the issue of election procedures, the second one in July addressed the issue of human rights and the fight against terrorism; both meetings were held in Vienna. I would like to emphasize that this meeting is the first of that kind in the history of the OSCE to be organized out of Vienna, and therefore I would particularly like to thank to Georgia for their generous offer to host this OSCE Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting in Tbilisi.

### (Ljubljana and Tbilisi – sister cities)

There is also one more simple fact that is bringing warm feelings to the whole team of the Slovenian Chairmanship and especially to the Chairman-in-Office. This is that the capital of Slovenia Ljubljana and Tbilisi are sister cities already almost for 30 years. Since Chairman-in-Office Dr Rupel is also a former mayor of the city of Ljubljana, please also receive his personal warmest regards.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

### (On SHDM)

This two days meeting on the Role of Defense Lawyers in Guaranteeing a Fair Trials will focus on access to legal council, structural issues relating to the defence bar, and equality of parties in criminal proceedings. This meeting should be also seen as part of the OSCE/ODIHR long term main focus on ensuring fair

trials, as well as on reforming criminal justice systems and torture prevention. In this regard one special day of 2005 Human Dimension Implementation Meeting held this September in Warsaw focused on methods to prevent and combat torture.

The Vienna, Copenhagen and Moscow Documents provide guarantees relating to the advocates role. However, none of the previous seminars and meetings conducted in the human dimension has dealt with the first line of reactive human rights professionals; defence lawyers.

While the importance of human rights defenders was acknowledge at SHDM in 2001 and the role of community policing in 2002, and while a seminar on Ombudsman and National Human Rights Protection Institutions was held in 1998 and on judicial systems in 2002, there was no human dimension event addressing the implementation of provisions of defence lawyers as a crucial element in the administration of justice and the effective fulfillment of the principle of the fair trial.

### (On bar associations)

Further, in many countries efforts are underway to reform the structure of the bar. Vital questions such as how the bar should be organized, how its independence can be guaranteed, and who should license advocates are the center of discussion. Similarly, issues such as at which stage of the criminal process lawyers should be allowed access to information and their clients and also their role during trial are critical in any democratic state.

### (Cross-dimensional approach)

The adharence of the principle of fair trial is crucial not only for the respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms, but also for all other OSCE dimension, particularly the economic dimension since it has been very clear that fair trials contribute to economic growth and encourages investments. In this sense this meeting shows the OSCE support to one of the vital cross-dimensional OSCE commitments, the commitment to ensure a fair trial to everyone.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

### (On the role of defence lawyers)

Within human rights circles the perception may be thought to exist that lawyers are somehow outside the normal run of human rights activities. However, it is lawyers who must find means to implement national and international human rights standards in the real world. They do this by means of applying legal remedies to abuse of power and ill treatment.

Defense lawyers play a vital role in ensuring the right to a fair trial. Access to legal councel is one of key fair trial guarantees which is recognized in international human right law and reiterated in the OSCE commitments. As Lawyers Committee for Human Rights stated in its basic guide in 2000, the right to be provided and communicate with defence counsel is the most scrutinized specific fair trial guarantee in fair trial observation practice, because it has been demonstrated to be the one that is most often violated. Principle 1 of the UN Basic Principle on the Role of Lawyers (1990) states that – and I quote - "all persons are entitled to call upon the assistance of the lawyers of their choice to protect and

establish their rights and to defend them in all stages of criminal proceedings." End of quote. Availability of lawyers may be viewed as a "threshold" indicator of fair trial standards.

To conclude,

I hope that this meeting will encourage state representatives as well as lawyers to discuss the implementation of the OSCE commitments in this area as well as possible additional commitments if needed. I believe this is also an opportunity to demonstrate our support for strong independent defence bars.

I wish you every success in your further deliberations and your future work.

## ANNEX IV: OPENING REMARKS OF AMBASSADOR CHRISTIAN STROHAL



### **Opening Remarks**

### by Ambassador Christian Strohal

## OSCE Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting »Role of Defence Lawyers in Guaranteeing a Fair Trial«

### 3-4 November 2005 Tbilisi, Georgia

It is my pleasure to welcome you to the first ever OSCE event devoted to an essential pillar of every criminal justice system: defence lawyers.

I want to start by thanking our hosts, Georgia. This meeting is historic not only because it is the first OSCE meeting devoted to defence lawyers, but also because it is the first time a SHDM has been held outside Vienna. It was the initiative of President Saakashvili, himself a prominent lawyer, to have Georgia host this event. I am sure that everyone here will be impressed with the work of the Georgian Ministry of Foreign Affairs in preparing for this event, and with the strong contributions by the Georgian participants. We are confident that this meeting will also make a positive contribution to the successful transition of our host country to a State fully governed by the rule of law.

I am looking forward to the introductory remarks of the Foreign Minister of Georgia, Gela Bezhuashvili, the Minister of Justice Konstatine Kemularia and of the representative of the Slovenian Chairmanship Ambassador Jozica Puhar.

Before that, let me briefly set the context. The OSCE is governed by a comprehensive security concept. The Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights works in the human dimension, where an impressive range of concrete commitments have been developed by the 55 participating States. These commitments include, of course, those of international human rights law. In our activities to support judicial reform in participating States, we have seen clearly the simple fact that the important role that defence lawyers play receives little attention while much international attention and focus go to reform efforts for the judiciary, for the prosecution and for the police. It is clear to us through our work throughout the OSCE region that for rule of law to develop there must be a strong defence bar, as well as independent judiciary, and prosecutors and police who perform their jobs with respect for human rights and law. I want to draw your

attention to the Reference Materials that we prepared for this meeting which include the current OSCE Commitments relating to defence lawyers and guaranteeing the right to a fair trial.

Clearly, defence lawyers are front line human rights defenders in any society. Lawyers are the first people that a person arrested and facing criminal charges turns to. Usually, lawyers are the first people outside law enforcement personnel, who hear complaints of torture and see the evidence of mistreatment. Defence lawyers in every country in the OSCE region represent those who are the least popular in every society: persons accused of committing crimes.

The work of a defence lawyer is made more difficult when the kind of case is one of high emotional impact such as when their clients are accused of acts of terrorism, murder or child molestation. It is the defence lawyer who voices objections to prevent cases being rushed forward to guilty verdicts without respecting the presumption of innocence and procedural protections. The marker of a society that truly respects human rights and freedoms is when it is a society where lawyers can freely and without obstruction represent those who are the most condemned, feared, or hated, to assure that their rights are fully respected. It is these cases which challenge how strongly fundamental human rights protections are guaranteed.

Lawyers play a crucial role in any democratic society. But, to play this role, certain conditions are necessary. First, people who are arrested must have access to a lawyer. This access must include not only speaking to a lawyer, but doing so privately, and without interference from the state. And, lawyers should have unimpeded access to their clients in custody. The first session of this event is devoted to discussing these issues. Primary among these issues is how OSCE participating States are providing legal assistance in criminal cases to those who cannot afford a lawyer. One thing that every OSCE participating State has in common is that the majority of people arrested cannot afford to hire a lawyer. The state therefore has a clear obligation to provide a lawyer under conditions that insure every defendant has a competent legal defence at every stage of the criminal proceedings, including during the investigation stage.

Secondly, the system for admission to and regulation of the bar must be one that allows for sufficient numbers of lawyers to enter the practice of law each year. In some OSCE participating States the number of lawyers admitted to criminal law practice remains far too low to be able to realistically provide an adequate defence to every citizen arrested in those countries in any given year. Session two of this meeting is devoted to these topics.

In addition to the question of who is admitted to practice law, there are related and serious questions of how to guarantee that lawyers are independent. Lawyers should not face being disbarred or being threatened with it for doing their jobs of providing strong representation for their clients, regardless of the charge or politically unpopular stand their clients may represent. If lawyers can have their licenses to practice easily taken away for representing unpopular clients then there are serious implications to whether lawyers will take unpopular cases. So the topic of admission to the bar is closely tied to disciplinary procedures and ethical standards.

The third topic for this SHDM which we will be discussing tomorrow is the Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings. This is a key area and one that we could have devoted the entire meeting to. In many countries of the OSCE region defence lawyers are not allowed under their codes of criminal procedure to investigate cases or to present evidence in court in the same manner and with the same protections as the prosecution.

Beyond the procedural problems, defence lawyers routinely face a range of practical problems. For example, they have a right under law to have access to all evidence in a court file. However, in practice they are not allowed to receive it because there are no copy machines and they are not allowed sufficient time with the file to fully read and copy down all relevant information.

I am of course, only briefly touching on the issues that we will be discussing in more detail in the next two days. I am very pleased with the high quality of experts that we have for this meeting. You are truly leaders in the legal communities in your countries and it is an honor that so many defence lawyers have agreed to join us here for this meeting. It is indeed an honor to welcome you here. I look forward to the discussion that we will have with not only our Keynote Speaker, and our introducers, but with the vibrant group of defence lawyers who are participating in this event. For many here today it is your first opportunity to attend an OSCE meeting, and my staff has worked hard to insure that this meeting, as a first OSCE Meeting on defence lawyers, reached beyond our "usual" community of participants and identified practicing lawyers from a diverse group of OSCE countries.

In this effort, I want to thank the strong assistance and co-operation that we have received from the OSCE field Missions, the American Bar Association Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative, and the Open Society Institute. I also would like to thank those participating States that included representatives of Bar associations and defence lawyers in their official delegations. This event represents a model example of co-operative work both within the OSCE and between the OSCE and other organizations devoted to work in this area.

I hope that this SHDM can provide a forum for an exchange of experiences regarding how to meet the challenges faced by defence lawyers in every OSCE country. In addition, I hope that the discussion can bring together concrete recommendations for OSCE participating States, the OSCE field missions, and the OSCE institutions, including the ODIHR, on what can be done to improve the situation for defence lawyers. And, I hope that this meeting will give strong impulses for many more years of work and attention to defence lawyers.

We look forward to your continued involvement.

## ANNEX V: BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION ON THE KEYNOTE SPEAKER AND INTRODUCERS

### **Key Note Speaker**

### Sir Sydney Kentridge, QC (United Kingdom):

Sir Sydney Kentridge is acknowledged as one of the greatest advocates in the common law world. Called to the Johannesburg Bar in 1949 he became Senior Counsel in 1965. He was appointed an English Queen's Counsel in 1984. In 1964 Sir Sydney was a member of the team that successfully defended another young lawyer on treason charges in South Africa, Nelson Mandela.

He was again in the defence legal team at the 1960s Rivonia trial when the African National Congress leader was given a life sentence that was to last until 1990. In 1998 Mr. Mandela, paid tribute to Sir Sydney, describing him as "brilliant".

Years later Sir Sydney acted on behalf of the family of another South African legend, the late student leader, Steve Biko, whose story inspired the film *Cry Freedom*. His role then, at the inquest which took place in a special courtroom in Pretoria in 1978, was to attempt to investigate and expose the circumstances in which the young student leader had died in police custody.

His skill played a major part in exposing the horrific way in which Biko had been treated by the authorities, both police and medical, although the initial verdict returned was one of accidental death.

After the end of apartheid Sir Sydney served as a Judge of the South African Constitutional Court. Then, in his 50s, Sir Sydney came to London and launched himself on what has been an equally successful legal career. He was knighted in 1999 for his international human rights work over the years. He continues to practice as an advocate in several jurisdictions and fields of law.

#### **Introducers**

### **Session I:** Access to Legal Counsel

### Mr. Michael P. Judge (United States):

Mr. Judge, the Public Defender for Los Angeles County, manages the oldest and largest public defender office in the United States. The Office was established in 1914 and currently employs over eleven hundred people including over seven hundred lawyers and over seventy investigators in thirty-eight offices. The Office of the Public Defender is charged with providing free legal services to all those accused of crimes in Los Angeles County who cannot afford to hire a lawyer. The lawyers of the Public Defender's Office handle a full range of criminal cases including juvenile cases and serious felonies including murder and cases where the prosecutor is seeking the death penalty. Mr. Judge began his career as a trial lawyer within the Office of the Public Defender in 1969. He was appointed Public Defender in 1994.

### Mr. Daniyar Kanafin (Kazakhstan):

Mr Kanafin is a practicing lawyer, law professor, and leading figure in criminal justice reform in Kazakhstan. Mr Kanafin has taught criminal procedure at several leading Kazakhstani universities. He has also held a range of administrative positions including being one of the youngest deans of a legal department in the country. He authored numerous publications on current issues in criminal procedure. His research focuses on securing human rights safeguards in criminal proceedings.

In addition to his devotion to the legal profession, for which he was recently commended by the Minister of Justice, he is also actively involved in advocating for changes in law and policy and is a leading national advocate for criminal justice reform. He is also at the forefront of bar reform in the Republic of Kazakhstan and is currently part of a working group devoted to drafting a new law on the bar in Kazakhstan.

### **Session II:** Admission to and Regulation of the Bar

### Dr. Margarete von Galen (Germany):

Dr von Galen began practicing law in 1983. Her focus is on criminal, labour and anti-discrimination cases. Her work in these fields is well known and has been covered in various publications. Dr von Galen is member of the German Republican Lawyers Association (RAV) and chaired the German Organisational Office of the Criminal Lawyers Association in 2000-2004. Since 2004 she has been the Chair of Berlin's Chamber of Attorneys.

Dr von Galen has in-depth experience representing defendants facing terrorist charges. Among other important trials, Dr von Galen participated in the "La Belle" trial in the early 1990s. More recently she acted as the defence lawyer in a well-publicized trial in Berlin with terrorist charges. These charges were later dropped by the court.

### Mr. Leonard Cyrson (Poland):

Mr Cyrson is a prominent defence lawyer in Poland. He practices law through his own law firm in Poznan, Poland. Mr Cyrson is a Member of the Executive Board of the Poznan Bar. In 2003, he was nominated to the Committee of Human Rights of the National Bar Association.

Mr Cyrson's main area of practice is criminal law, including economic crimes. He represents individual claimants in front of the European Court of Human Rights, mainly concerning the right to liberty and security, the right to a fair trial and protection of property rights. Mr Cyrson also represents refugees seeking asylum in Poland and persons who have been issued with deportation orders based on suspicion of terrorism.

His experience includes work in the Legal and Treaties Department, Human Rights and Minorities Division of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in Poland. In addition to running his own legal practice, he has provided his expertise to the Council of Europe, the ICRC, and the OSCE. He also devotes time to training

future defence lawyers seeking to be admitted to the bar and is a member of the examination board for the Poznan Bar Association. Mr. Cyrson also lectures at universities in Poland on the role of defence lawyers in protecting human rights.

### **Session III: Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings**

### Yury M. Schmidt (Russia):

Mr Yuri Schmidt is one of the most renowned and respected Russian lawyers. He was admitted to practice law in the Leningrad Collegium of Advocates in 1960. Over the years, Mr Schmidt has fearlessly represented hundreds of clients, some of whom were very unpopular with the Soviet authorities. His reputation as a principled lawyer resulted in his being subjected to considerable pressure from the government. He was disbarred in 1987 but reinstated his membership in the Collegium of Advocates through court proceedings.

He was outspoken and represented politically controversial figures in the 1990s, including Arkady Manucharov, one of Armenian leaders in Nagorny Karabakh, and Torez Kulumbekov, a South Ossetian leader tried in Georgia. He defended Navy captain Alexander Nikitin, charged in 1995 with espionage by the Russian security services.

A friend and associate of many prominent Russian human rights defenders, including Andrei Sakharov, Sergei Kovalev, and Galina Starovoitova, Yuri Schmidt also became a founder and Chair of the Russian Committee of Lawyers for Human Rights in 1991.

Mr Schmidt is currently a member of the St. Petersburg City Chamber of Advocates and remains an active defence lawyer. Most recently, he was part of the defence counsel of Mikhail Khodorkovsky, the largest shareholder of the Yukos oil company.

Mr Schmidt was a recipient of the Highest Russian Legal Award ("Themis") in 1997. He has also received numerous honorary awards and titles from Human Rights Watch, International League of Human Rights, the International Helsinki Federation and other organizations.

### Ms. Louise Christian (United Kingdom):

Ms. Louise Christian, a founding partner of the London Solicitors firm Christian Khan, has an extensive practice in domestic civil law, notably in representing litigants in high-profile inquiries and cases involving the review of governmental decisions. Ms. Christian, who qualified as a solicitor in 1978, is particularly well known for her human rights work. She acts for many people accused under terrorism legislation.

She has dealt with many significant human rights cases including a leading ECHR case of Osman v UK. She has also represented and continues to represent the UK detainees in Guantanamo Bay. Ms. Christian has also conducted delegations to the Kurdish areas of Iraq and Turkey for, amongst others, the English Law Society, the International Commission of Jurists, the International Human Rights

Group, and the International Federation of Human Rights. She writes extensively on human rights matters in the UK national press.

### ANNEX VI: KEYNOTE SPEECH OF SIR SYDNEY KENTRIDGE

It is a great honour to address this great gathering of lawyers in this historic city. I speak to you in my personal capacity, but I bring you warm greetings from the Bar Council of England and Wales, and a message from its Chairman.

It is especially a privilege for me to be addressing so many private lawyers, in particular defence lawyers. I have been a lawyer in private practice, and a defence lawyer, for more than 50 years. So I believe that I am speaking to colleagues. Some may ask why it is necessary, in the year 2005, for the OSCE to hold a major conference attended by lawyers from some 40 countries, on the Role of the Defence Lawyers in Guaranteeing a Fair Trial. Should not this be obvious? Ambassador Strohal succinctly and forcefully described the vital role of the defence lawyer in the criminal justice system in any country that is, or aspires to be, democratic. The defence lawyer, he said, was an essential pillar of the system. Who would disagree? In the reference materials for this conference you will find repeated declarations, accepted by the states participating in the OSCE, asserting the role and the importance of the defence lawyer. Thus in Copenhagen in 1990 the participating states solemnly declared that an essential element of justice was that

"the independence of legal practitioners will be recognised and protected":

#### and that

"any person prosecuted will have the right ... to prompt legal assistance of his own choosing or, if he does not have sufficient means to pay for legal assistance, to be given it free".

A United Nations Congress on Prevention of Crime in the same year resolved that

"Governments shall ensure that lawyers are able to perform all of their professional functions without intimidation, hindrance, harassment or improper interference",

#### and that

"Lawyers shall not be identified with their clients or their clients' causes as a result of discharging their functions".

A Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe said much the same thing ten years later.

Yet we all know that these principles, which few governments would openly reject, only too often do not accord with reality.

In a recent case the European Court of Human Rights in Strasbourg heard and upheld the complaints of lawyers whose premises had been searched and whose files had been seized when they were acting professionally for persons rightly or wrongly considered to be dangerous enemies of the state. The Court found the searches and seizures were unlawful and an infringement of the rights of the

lawyer under the European Convention on Human Rights. In the course of its judgment the Court felt compelled to say this –

"The Court would emphasise the central role of the legal profession in the administration of justice and the maintenance of the rule of law. The freedom of lawyers to practise their profession without undue hindrance is an essential component of a democratic society and a necessary prerequisite for the effective enforcement of the provisions of the Convention, in particular the guarantees of fair trials and the right to personal security. Persecution or harassment of members of the legal profession thus strikes at the very heart of the Convention system."

One scarcely needs to emphasise that the infringement of the rights of the lawyers was also an infringement of the rights of their clients.

What this means, I suggest, is that all of us in our own countries must be vigilant to ensure, as far as it lies within our power, that the great principles started in the international Declarations and Conventions are in fact respected and carried into effect. I deliberately say "in all our countries" because in no country can we take those principles for granted. In some (if, fortunately, only a few) countries of the OSCE, it seems, the defence lawyer is for practical purposes dependent on the goodwill of the government and the prosecuting authorities. Equality of arms between prosecution and defence does not exist. Even admission to the Bar may depend on favour rather than objective qualifications. In some countries, again happily only a few, the lawyer defending an unpopular client may find himself or herself harassed or intimidated. Most of us are fortunate enough to be free of such excesses. But in even the more fortunate countries, defence lawyers face problems.

In the United Kingdom the independence of the Bar has been has been recognised and generally respected for well over 200 years. So has the right of an accused person to a legal defence. At the end of the Second World War it was recognised that the right to be defended by a lawyer was of little value to those who could not afford to pay a lawyer, so an Act of Parliament created a comprehensive system of legal aid – a system which ensured that any person facing a criminal charge of any seriousness but unable to afford the fees of a lawyer, could obtain a lawyer of his own choice at the expense of the state. (I emphasise "a lawyer of his own choice" – not a nominee of the state.) This system has worked well, but – there is always a "but" - it has become a very expensive system for the state. The government's method of meeting this financial burden on the taxpayer has been to reduce the fees paid to the lawyers. This has caused real hardship, and very recently some lawyers who practise in the criminal courts threatened to go on strike. Fortunately, the strike has not in fact come about. A strike of criminal lawyers would be a national disaster. But if defence lawyers are not to be adequately remunerated they will gradually be driven from the profession. What would then become of the commitment to ensure legal assistance to persons charged with criminal offences? So we all have problems and difficulties of our own to contend with.

I have mentioned the independence of the Bar. I should like to say something more about that. The independence of the defence lawyer means more than independence from the government. It means that in defending his client he must not be influenced by any other person or organisation, whether it be another, perhaps more important client, a trade union, a political party, the press or a religious body. The positive side of a lawyer's independence is that his whole duty should be to his client and no other. Of course a lawyer must not deliberately mislead the court, nor can he connive in any attempt to do so. But other than that he must act to the best of his ability in the interests of his client and in no other interest – not in what others might think of as the interests of the state or the community.

In the year 1820, England was fascinated by a remarkable case. The King of England was suing his Queen for adultery. The Queen was represented by a lawyer who was to rise to great heights. The Queen was unpopular and her lawyer was subjected to strong pressures to give up her case, including indications that he was putting his own professional advancement at risk. He refused to be intimidated. In his address to the court he stated what he conceived to be the duty of an advocate. The language is more rhetorical than we are likely to use today, but the substance still holds good. He said this —

"An advocate, by the sacred duty which he owes his client, knows in the discharge of that duty but one person in the world – that client and none other. To save that client by all expedient means, to protect that client and all hazards and costs to all others, and amongst other to himself, is the highest and most unquestioned of his duties".

Note these words "amongst others to himself". What this advocate was saying was that when acting for our clients we must put aside all consideration of pleasing or displeasing others, or of benefitting or harming ourselves. What you say or do may displease the government. It may offend your friends or colleagues. All that we must put aside.

You may say that that noble precept is easy enough to state but very hard to live up to when acting for an unpopular client, in the face of a hostile government, an unsympathetic public and a critical press. I would entirely agree. I know from my experience in South Africa where I practised for over 30 years in the era of apartheid how difficult it can be to live up to that ideal. But if it is an ideal that we cannot always attain, it is still one we should keep before us as an ideal for which we should strive.

South Africa in the years of apartheid is a setting which illustrates both the vital role of defence counsel, and the difficulties they may face. Under apartheid the vast black majority were ruled, and ruled with an iron hand, by a white minority government. Blacks had no vote and government policy was that they should never have the vote. Apartheid, that is enforced segregation, governed every walk of life. Needless to say the black population did not acquiesce in their own oppression. A vast array of laws was passed to keep them in subjection. Black political activists constantly found themselves in conflict with the law. There were frequent trials on charges ranging from high treason, terrorism (a broadly defined concept under the South African statute) and sabotage, to such offences as being in possession of the badge of a prohibited organisation. The accused persons were regarded by the apartheid government, by the police and by a large section of the white population as enemies of the state. Yet in nearly every case persons accused of such crimes were able to obtain a legal defence.

The defence lawyers were often leading members of the Bar. Their experiences as defence lawyers in political prosecutions were varied. Many of them, although they often appeared in such cases, were left alone by the government and the police. I am relieved to be able to say that I myself was never subjected to either formal penalties or informal harassment. Others were not so lucky. government had various ways of dealing with those they considered to be political enemies. That included some of the defence lawyers who acted in political cases. Some of them were detained under police powers, without judicial warrant, without charge and without recourse to a court. Others were subjected to Ministerial banning orders which prohibited them from entering a courthouse thus depriving them of their professional existence. Another somewhat less drastic device, but nonetheless serious, was depriving the lawyer of his or her passport – and to attempt to leave the country without a passport was a criminal offence. As to informal harassment, I knew at least one colleague whose motor car was set on fire by the security police. In the result some of the best of those lawyers felt forced to leave the country. And even those who were not directly affected were conscious of an unspoken threat.

Nevertheless, the defence lawyers in South Africa were able to make a difference. One instance – in a trial lasting from 1958 to 1961 ninety leaders of the African National Congress and its allies (including Mr. Nelson Mandela) were charged with high treason before three judges of the High Court. At the end of that lengthy trial all the accused persons were acquitted, entirely because of the compelling legal arguments of the defence lawyers. Another instance – in 1964 Mr. Mandela and some of his associates were again on trial, this time on a charge of sabotage which, like treason, was potentially a capital crime. This was the case commonly knows as the Rivonia trial.

The evidence of a conspiracy to commit sabotage was strong and could not be denied, but the prosecutor asserted that the accused had also plotted to launch a country-wide guerrilla war campaign. That allegation was denied by the accused but vigorously pursued by the prosecutors. If that had been proved Mr. Mandela as leader of the anti-government activists on trial would certainly have been sentenced to death. And the apartheid government did not reprieve political prisoners. But the team of defence lawyers were able to destroy the prosecution's case on guerrilla warfare. Mr. Mandela was not hanged. He was sentenced to life imprisonment. And as we all know he survived to lead his country into an era of democracy and equality before the law. I go so far as to say that but for the courage and skill of his defence lawyers the history of South Africa would have been very different.

(I must say at once that I was not one of those defence counsel.) After the Rivonia trial had ended, one of those defence lawyers was barred by ministerial order from continuing to practise law – an order generally seen as a vindictive punishment for his professional role.

How do I sum up those long past South African happenings? I would say that they bear out forcefully Ambassador Strohal's statement that the front line human rights defenders in any society are the defence lawyers. They also show that even when acting against a determined government equally determined lawyers can

still do much to protect their clients. The other less happy lesson is that under some regimes the lawyer may have a heavy price to pay.

There is another aspect of my South African experience which is, I think, relevant to this Conference. Earlier I quoted from the Basic Principles stated by the United Nations Congress on Prevention of Crime the principle that "Lawyers should not be identified with their clients or their clients' causes". Even in apartheid South Africa that principle was recognised by the judges, by the lawyers themselves, and even by members of the public. This principle certainly makes it easier for lawyers to take on cases for clients who are unpopular with the government or sections of the public. But if this principle is to have real meaning it places an additional duty on defence lawyers – they must be prepared to defend clients whose political or religious or social views they do not share, indeed with which they strongly disagree. That is inherent in the concept of the independence of the lawyer.

I am sure that little that I have said will be unfamiliar to you. What you may be thinking is that what I have said should be addressed not to defence lawyers who understand it well enough but to governments, especially to those governments who may make life difficult for defence lawyers. That thought leads on to a basic Why should a government wish to support or encourage defence lawyers, who after all are trying to defend persons whom the government through its prosecutors wishes to convict? But then one might go on to ask, why should a government be concerned that criminal trials should be fair? The only answer is that it depends on what sort of country you want to be. If you wish to belong to the community of nations who believe in democracy and in respect for the rights of the individual citizen then you must accept that government itself must be subject to the rule of law. And the rule of law cannot exist unless every effort is made to ensure that all trials, large and small, are fair. To achieve that, the state must ensure that there are not only independent judges, but also fair prosecutors and competent and independent defence lawyers. Without this last element nothing else would count.

In a message to this Conference the Chairman of the Bar Council of England and Wales has said this:

"It is impossible to have fair criminal trial where the liberty of an individual is at stake unless that person has access to proper legal representation.

Defendants in criminal cases have been brought to court by the organs of the state, namely the police and prosecuting authorities. In relative terms the resources of the state are limitless compared with those of the criminal defendant. Bitter experience has shown that miscarriages of justice occur in even the best systems. It is vital to the health of society that every reasonable step is taken to minimise that risk. People must have confidence in their system of justice if they are not to feel and become detached from the society which provides it."

One thing more about the rule of law and the defence of individual rights. These great objectives are pursued not only in the great cases that go to the Supreme Courts and the Constitutional Courts. The rule of law and the rights of the citizen are vindicated every time a defence lawyer goes into court to defend a client to the best of his or her ability, whoever the client is and whatever the charge.

That is why there is no more honourable calling than to be a defence lawyer, and I am proud, together with so many of you here, to have followed that calling.

#### ANNEX VII: INTRODUCTORY SPEECHES

**Session I: Access to Legal Counsel** 

**Introducers:** Mr. Michael Judge, Head of the Public Defender's Office in Los Angeles County (United States of America)

Mr. Danyar Kanafin, Lawyer (Kazakhstan)

## Summary of the Introductory Speech of Mr. Judge

The Public Defender's Office of Los Angeles County is the oldest and largest office in the United States. Mr. Judge presented the structure of the Public Defender's Office and how it approaches its duty to provide a competent defence to its clients. Mr. Judge began with a summary of the role of a public defender in general. Public defenders in the United States are either elected or contracted. Mr. Judge then explained the specific circumstances regarding the Los Angeles Public Defender. His office manages a caseload of more than 500,000 cases every year. The Los Angeles County Public Defender's Office represents indigent defendants in criminal cases ranging from misdemeanours to felonies, including death penalty cases. Included in the cases handled by the Public Defender are juvenile cases and cases involving involuntary commitment of the mentally ill.

The Los Angeles County Public Defender has approximately 1,100 staff members, more than 70% of whom are lawyers. Also on staff are 80 investigators who are mostly former police officers. The investigators assist the lawyers in the Public Defender's Office in conducting investigations that are entirely independent of the prosecutor. In addition, the Office has six full- time trainers, also lawyers, who provide training for new Deputy Public Defenders (lawyers). The Office also provides continuing legal education through a training programme for all lawyers on its staff. The California Bar requires a minimum number of hours of continuing legal education training every year and the LA County Public Defender's Office training programme has been certified by the California Bar to provide the required training. Los Angeles County is ethnically diverse and that diversity is reflected in the staff of the Public Defender's Office with approximately 30 % of the staff being ethnic minorities.

Mr. Judge reported that Public Defender Offices, if properly staffed and funded, deliver a high standard of legal representation and ensure that suspects and defendants get a proper defence, which is as important as being properly prosecuted. The Public Defender has access to files, forensic experts, notes and motions. Therefore, he or she can take corrective action if the authorities make mistakes or in cases of misconduct. As an institution, the Public Defender can address these problems on a higher level than is often possible on a case-by-case basis, and the Los Angeles County Public Defender's Office has often raised issues of systemic violations reaching beyond individual cases.

In individual cases law enforcement authorities and prosecutors often jump to conclusions as they tend to see only the evidence which might incriminate the suspect. The Public Defender is vital as a check and balance in relation to the investigations. And the fact that there are frequently errors reinforces the need for

the Public Defender to have investigators as part of the staff to investigate cases separately from the investigations conducted by the prosecution or the police.

Lawyers in the Public Defender's Office in LA County receive the same salaries as prosecutors. Mr. Judge stated that equal pay is crucial both to insuring quality lawyers and in recognizing that defence lawyers perform work of equal value and importance to society as prosecutors do.

The Public Defender's Office supports the independence of the judiciary and makes efforts to protect judges from outside pressure. However, if a judge commits a violation then the Public Defender will address the judge's conduct with the judge himself, or with his supervisor or, in extreme cases, bring a complaint before the judicial commission that can result in the judge's removal from office.

Similarly, the Public Defender's Office reports individual police officers or prosecutors for misconduct. Private defence attorneys are reported to the California Bar for investigation and possible sanction if the Public Defender sees or reasonably suspects a violation of ethical standards.

The Public Defender's Office is also involved in legislative work to improve the criminal justice legislation in California. The Los Angeles County Public Defender has a seat on the California Criminal Justice Legislative Commission. The California legislature has an active law-making agenda. In 2004 alone, over 500 changes were made to criminal laws in California. The office provides valuable input to ongoing efforts of legal reform in various areas. Due to this proactive involvement in legislative work the Los Angeles County Public Defender has been successful in preventing many legislative changes that would have adversely affected defendants' rights in California.

The Public Defender is immediately informed when a person is arrested. The detainee is allowed by law to "complete" three phone calls and the Public Defender's Office telephone number is displayed in all detention facilities in LA County. The Public Defender has someone on duty 24 hours a day, and has lawyers available during weekends and holidays. As a rule, people who have been detained or arrested have no problem making contact with a lawyer with the Public Defender's Office. However, if the police deny the detainee the right to legal counsel this is a crime and the police officer can be criminally prosecuted.

The Head of the Public Defender's Office is in regular contact with the heads of the various police agencies that operate in Los Angeles County. Through these working relations misconduct on the part of individual police officers regarding access to legal counsel can usually be avoided or addressed quickly.

Mr. Judge concluded with the remark that a justice system with a public defender system has an excellent structure to provide effective legal counsel in all criminal cases.

## Introductory Speech of Mr. Daniyar Kanafin

Each person is guaranteed the right to legal counsel by Article 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. Since it is in the sphere of

criminal legal proceedings that the state most severely limits the basic personal rights and freedoms, it is clear that someone who found herself under criminal prosecution has to have real opportunity to protect her rights by all legal means available.

Due to the complexity of corresponding legislation and legal practice itself and, therefore, the fact that someone who is unaware of her rights and corresponding ways of protecting them might fall victim to the arbitrariness of the police and the court, it is in the absolute majority of cases that such protection cannot be secured without timely and qualified assistance by a professional lawyer.

In my presentation I will be referring to the legislation and the legal practice of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Issues arising within the scope of the right to legal counsel, though, are, to a certain extent, universal and exist in many OSCE participating States. For most of the former Soviet republics these issues are most critical and acute since we were brought up within the same legal tradition and the speed of legal reform in our countries is similar. In this regard, it might be speculated that today's discussion and exchange of opinions will be interesting for all representatives of the OSCE participating States.

Since the main function of the introductory speaker is to introduce the topic and invite participants for discussion, in the course of my speech I will try to draw your attention to the most serious problems related to the issue of observance of the right to legal counsel arising before various subjects of the criminal law, including the following:

- 1. Restriction of the lawyer's access to client after detention and violation of confidentiality of the client-lawyer communication;
- 2. Issues related to the compensation for services rendered by the state-appointed defense counsel;
- 3. Limitation of the powers of defense lawyers in the procedure which prevents adherence to the principle of adversarial criminal proceedings;
- 4. Lack of independence and personal safety guarantees for professional defense lawyers.

I would like to discuss these and other topical issues of legal reality and to attempt to find ways to address them appropriately.

We may note with satisfaction that during the recent years legal systems in most post-Soviet states have been moving towards securing access to legal assistance at earlier stages of criminal proceedings. During the Soviet times, the defense lawyer had the right to enter the proceedings at the trial stage or, at best, when charges were brought, i.e. at the time when most of the evidence had been already collected, questionings and witness confrontations already done, detention imposed, other principal procedural steps already taken. Today people may receive legal counsel before the first questioning takes place and, subsequently, may testify and participate in investigatory activities in the presence of a defense attorney. It should be acknowledged that post-Soviet reforms and the

humanization of criminal law led to the expansion of rights of the person under criminal prosecution and to certain extension of the lawyer's rights as well.

Nonetheless, the situation with the observance of the right to legal counsel is far from ideal. Repressive rudiments of criminal procedure remain today. Unfortunately, the lawyer has not yet become a representative of one of equal parties in criminal proceedings in the majority of former Soviet states. Criminal procedure, especially at pre-trial stages, is still by far inquisitorial. The extremely low percentage of acquittals in criminal cases – which last year did not exceed 1% of the overall number of cases – may serve as an indirect proof of that.

Effective observance of the right to legal counsel is curbed by a number of reasons, including inter alia the lack of defense attorneys per se and the lack of desire on the side of agencies responsible for pre-trial investigation to allow timely participation of a lawyer in the proceedings. The investigator realizes that appropriate advice by a qualified lawyer to the accused may simply "destroy the edifice" of state prosecution so often unstable at early stages of investigation.

In accordance with current legislation (art. 68, part 2 of the Code of Criminal Procedure (CCP) of the Republic of Kazakhstan), a citizen suspected of committing a crime and detained on this basis has the right to receive confidential advice of a lawyer before the first questioning takes place. This makes sense because the person whose freedom has been restricted, as a rule, is under great stress, and cannot adequately analyze the legal situation in which she found herself and is most vulnerable to self-incriminating testimonies given under influence of fear, due to confusion or as a result of illegal methods of obtaining evidence, such as direct threat, blackmailing or torture. In such cases, assistance of a lawyer is vital and essential as it, first of all, excludes the possibility of physical violence against the detainee and, second of all, fosters critical analysis of the situation and possible ways and means of protecting his rights.

In reality, though, this humane legal norm is by no means always implemented and not effectively as it should be. Due to inaccuracy of some CCP provisions and the repressive tradition brought over from the Soviet times, investigators sometimes do not duly explain this norm to the detained persons. In some instances, investigators by way of deception or open pressure force the detainees to waive their right to legal assistance. Even if the detained person insists on his desire to discuss the matter with the lawyer and the latter appears to fulfill his professional function, the investigation officers do not ensure full observance of this right.

Throughout my personal professional experience there were several cases when after a lengthy argument with the police officers regarding the possibility of my conversation with the detained person, I was finally allowed to have a meeting but only in the presence of an investigator or a police officer. They basically monitored our conversation and could, of course, hear everything that was said between us – clearly, no confidentiality was observed in those cases. Such actions of the police or the investigation were justified on the basis of not allowing the defense attorney to transfer any prohibited objects to the detained. The allegations seemed quite illogical for the police could simply search the detained right after the conversation with the lawyer.

In Kazakhstan there have been several widely-known cases when a defense attorney's conversations with the client were illegally recorded by the investigators and the content of the conversation served as the basis for suspending the lawyer in question from the case. Even today it cannot be guaranteed that the specially designated rooms in pre-trial detention facilities and other criminal investigation agencies are not bugged, and that conversations of the lawyer and the client will not be observed and recorded at the discretion of law-enforcement officers.

On the one hand, in accordance with the current legislation the lawyer has the right to consult with his detained client without any limitation of the number of such meetings and their duration. In reality, on the other hand, the procedure of getting the necessary detention facility entrance permit is transformed into asking for a favor instead of getting what one is entitled to and is to a certain degree humiliating for the lawyer. In order to be able to meet with the client in a pre-trial detention facility the lawyer has to, first of all, write a request addressing the corresponding investigation officer asking for the permission to see his client during the time of investigation, then second, receive a permission from the above mentioned officer and, third, get the approved request registered by the chancellor officer or by the officer on duty at the corresponding investigation agency. Only after that the lawyer will be able to exercise his right. When the case is transferred to court, the only difference in the procedure is that the corresponding permission has to be received not from the investigator but from the judge.

The procedure of exercising the same right when the person is kept in a temporary detention facility, i.e. detained or transported to the facility for the purposes of carrying out certain investigatory activities, is not regulated by any law and it is even harder to get permission for a meeting with the client in such circumstances than in cases described above. Sometimes the lawyer is not even allowed to enter the building of a given law-enforcement agency without the special invitation of one of the officers. Such a situation may hardly be considered satisfactory. The issue of timely access of a lawyer to the client and the issue of lawyer-client communication confidentiality must be addressed not only at the legislative level but also resolved in real life.

Problems related to the right to legal counsel are not limited to the issue of access of lawyer to the client. The issue of compensation for the services of state appointed defender should be touched upon as well.

Unfortunately, the fact that there is a defense attorney working on a given case does not always mean that the person charged with a crime will receive qualified legal assistance. The procedure of assigning defenders to cases where the accused cannot independently bear the costs of professional legal assistance has not changed since the Soviet times. The services of such lawyers are remunerated at a comparatively low rate (at present, in Kazakhstan this rate does not exceed \$4/hour). In addition to that, accounting for the time spent during the pre-trial proceedings as well as the final count of time and the corresponding remuneration is done by the criminal investigation agency, i.e. by the procedural opponent of the defense. In some instances, the lawyer's position in the course of defending the client, the professional conflict between the investigator and the lawyer due to violation of the client's rights by the investigation, and initiation of motions and appeals by the lawyer may serve an informal reasons for lowering the amount of service time and, thus, may lead to the decrease in the amount of remuneration for

the lawyer. At the trial stage of the proceedings it is the court who approves the appointed lawyer's "pay check" and, quite often, the court may not be really interested in the lawyer's active participation in the proceedings. Thus, we have an odd, illogical and humiliating for the lawyer situation when having legally assisted the charged citizen for an extremely low fee, the lawyer has to ask his procedural opponents to pay for his work. Undoubtedly, such state of things does not promote the quality of legal assistance by state appointed defense attorneys paid from the state budget and it should be changed. This situation is a part of Soviet inheritance and, as far as I know, is still the case in many OSCE participating States. It is necessary to find ways to deal with the above problem.

In accordance with the current criminal procedure law, the defender in a case may not be a professional one and the defense may be represented by relatives (e.g. spouse) of the accused. In some cases this provision allows the investigation bodies to invite persons who are not professional lawyers to act as representatives of the defense. It is obvious, that relatives or spouses without special qualifications are not able to provide the accused with qualified legal counsel. Formally, though, it is considered that a defender is taking part in the proceedings and the right of the accused to legal counsel is observed. It is also obvious, that the described situation contradicts the essence of this fundamental right which is that the assistance must be rendered by a professional lawyer.

The desire of the state to somehow maintain the right to legal assistance in the situation of lack of professional lawyers is understandable, but it does not make much sense to resolve the matter by substituting qualified professional legal assistance with its surrogate. The issue of increasing the number of lawyers is one of the most acute ones in many countries of the world. The ways of addressing this issue might be different. In some former Soviet countries the attempts to soften the control over qualifications of bar members did not help to ensure low-income citizens with legal assistance since very few people expressed the desire to work for a symbolic fee. At the same time the conditions created were such that many people who, based on their professional and moral qualifications, should not have enjoyed the high status of a defense lawyer were given the opportunity to get it.

In this regard, the proposals often put forward to simplify the procedure of entering the bar by way of making control mechanisms less complicated might not so much attract more qualified lawyers into the professional bar associations but lead to transforming the bar into a refuge for people unable to fulfill themselves within the chosen career path or those who were rejected by the law-enforcement system, including on moral and ethical grounds. I hope that this important issue will be thoroughly discussed in other working sections of this conference.

The third issue is the limitation of the lawyer's rights in criminal procedure. One of the most important aspects of access to both qualified and effective professional legal assistance is the issue of adhering to the principle of adversarial procedure and the expansion of lawyer's powers under the criminal procedure law. Unfortunately, in many cases the lawyer is viewed as a pseudo-democratic supplement to the inquisitorial by its nature mechanism of criminal prosecution – some of the lawyer's professional rights may be utilized only with the approval of the investigation agency. The anecdotal story about trying to get access to the

client that I used in my presentation is by far not the only one. The lawyer may exercise his right to present evidence during the pre-trial stage of investigation only with the investigator's approval. In order to appeal illegal actions of the investigator to the court the lawyer has to address the prosecutor's office, which itself is an investigation agency and has close ties with the regular investigation. Because of that, it is a frequent case that appeals or motions by the lawyer are left unanswered.

In some CIS participating States the authorization of arrest and other activities limiting basic rights and freedoms of citizens fall within the jurisdiction of prosecutorial agencies and this, in turn, absolutely excludes the possibility of resolving such matters in adversarial environment in keeping with equality of parties to the case. Such state of things makes the lawyer's work unproductive, damages the citizens' belief in the possibility of effective resistance against abuse and lawlessness exercised by certain representatives of the state.

The situation is made worse since the lawyer, while protecting the rights and interests of citizens, is open to the same abuse/violence as his clients. For example, the content of the lawyer's belongings (briefcase, folders, etc.) has to go through a superficial but still a check. Consequently, the right to confidentiality of client-lawyer communication is not being observed. In addition to that, the lawyer while being on the premises of a detention center or other law-enforcement/investigation agencies, is not guaranteed his personal immunity and may fall victim to a provocation or some other illegal actions against him by his procedural opponents.

The current legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan does not provide for any more or less effective mechanisms protecting the lawyer against accusations and prosecution for alleged violations of current legislation during execution of his professional duties. The lawyer may suffer for his own eloquence and become accused of slander, insult or contempt of the court. We consider it quite necessary to introduce a provision into the current legislation which will provide for a special procedure for a criminal, civil and administrative prosecution of lawyers and will ensure due protection of lawyers against persecution for actions conducted while fulfilling their professional duties, and possible provocations and other conflicts between them and their procedural opponents. It would be quite interesting to learn more about the situation with the above issues in other OSCE participating States and make an attempt to find possible solutions in this sphere for Kazakhstan.

In conclusion, allow me to express hope that in today's discussion not only the above mentioned issues but also other topical and important ones related to professional defense in criminal procedure would find their solution.

## Session II: Admission to and Regulation of the Bar

**Introducers:** Mr. Leonard Cyrson, Lawyer (Poland)

**Dr. Margarete von Galen**, Lawyer, Chair of the Berlin Bar (Germany)

### Introductory Speech of Mr. Leonard Cyrson

What is the Bar? It is a profession. It is the lawyers. It is the Bar Association. In this order and no other. The order, in fact, is of much significance. There is no doubt about the importance of the legal profession. For that reason, the kind of people who practice it and the way in which it is practiced are both highly critical issues. The role of the Bar Association is to keep the wrong people from enter the profession and ensuring their performance fits well with the mission of the legal profession. The Bar, therefore, is a system in which Lawyers serve the profession; the Bar Association serves both the Lawyers and the Profession. The Profession, its purpose and significance, remain the ultimate value.

The history of the Bar in Poland has been rather complex, as can be expected of a country that has gone through many difficult periods in the past. During successive periods, the principles upheld by the Polish Bar differed to a larger or smaller extent from those adopted in strongly democratic countries. The most substantial departures from democratic standards made by the Polish Bar took place under Communism. At that time, acting through the competent minister, the state and the central administration exercised close and continuous control over the organization and operation of the Bar, in line with the overall philosophy of the Communist regime. In contrast, today's Bar system in Poland is fully aligned with democratic principles. This, in fact, is the only statement describing the present condition of the Polish Bar that can be this categorical and unambiguous. As soon as the discussion becomes more detailed, questions and doubts arise. These are particularly pressing on the issue of admission to the Bar.

"A Revolution in the Legal Profession" was a title of a recent article ran in the Polish press concerning admission to the Bar. The title clearly reflects the kind of press that the latest amendments to Bar regulations have received. I am not quoting this title by accident. The title reflects the direction of a change process that was triggered by the amendments of June 30 of this year. It hints at some of the key issues that are essential for the future of the Bar. Are we witnessing a revolution? Why revolution? What kind of revolution?

The amended Bar Act has enacted a number of changes in the operation of the Bar. The most emotional ones are those concerning admission to the legal profession and advocate training. The common theme behind all of the changes is a substantial curtailing of the rights and powers of the Bar Association, including, in particular, its influence over the examination process, both in advocate training competition examinations as well as in attorney examinations. Under the new law, both of these examinations are conducted by advocate trainee examination committees that reports at the Ministry of Justice. The Committee is comprised of three representatives of the Minister of Justice, one scholar, one public prosecutor and two representatives of the Bar. In this composition, Attorneys ended up being in minority. The Minister of Justice stands as an authority superior to the Committee. Admission to both of the examinations takes place at a charge. The advocate training competition examination is a written test. The final attorney examination is made up of a written and an oral part. Under the new law, which is now in effect, the completion of advocate training is no longer prerequisite to being entered onto the list of attorneys at law. In the light of the amended act, performing work that involves the application or formulation of the law as well as the performance of services involving the application or formulation of law is sufficient to qualify one for admission to the attorney examination. The minimum period of legal employment or of performing legal services is five years.

The changes enshrined in the new law are of great significance as they touch upon the most critical part of the Bar system – admission to the bar. The power to decide on such admission has now been removed from the Bar Association.

The changes in the Bar system are a response to long-expressed expectations of the general public as well as the legal community, particularly young law graduates embarking on a carrier in the legal profession. Their main mantra has been to open up the profession. The slogan expressed opposition to ambivalent admission criteria and cases of nepotism which the public associated with the Bar. As painful as it has been for the legal community, the perception was fairly substantiated, and proved especially true for smaller attorney board districts. Particularly discreditable was the fact that lawyers themselves dragged their feet on solving the bar admission problem and carrying out the necessary reforms. Expressions of support for change that for long years have been heard from lawyers were not followed up with concrete steps and initiative. In the early 2004, the Extraordinary National Assembly of the Bar posed the question of whether "we are absolutely certain that the existing bar is a perfect system". This has long remained a rhetorical question. The legal community's failure to institute reforms has come as quite a surprise. What makes it even more surprising is that a large proportion of certified lawyers have proved themselves capable of supporting society and joining ranks to fight for a worthy cause. This was demonstrated even back under communism as they fought fiercely for human rights and, in their role of the intellectual elite, played an important role of preventing the absurdities of Communism and averting its threats. Yet, the fact of the matter is that such consolidation has all but disappeared. The change came from the outside. It was launched by politicians and, as such, came with all the characteristics of a political reform.

One of the main arguments used in formulating the amended Bar Act, one quoted also at the time the Act was first enacted, was that better access to the profession is indispensable. There is no arguing that a close link exists between the number of lawyers relative to the population and access to legal council. Many recommendations can be found in the science of economics which consistently refers to the iron rule of supply and demand. Poland has one lawyer per every 5.5 thousand residents and one legal advisor for every 2 thousand population which is substantially below other member states of the European Union. There are countries in the EU with an attorney or legal advisor for every 500 inhabitants. To remedy this disproportion in Poland, the amendment was designed to increase the number of lawyers by reforming admission rules. However, by putting the arguments used in the Act of June 30 into the language of politics, an adverse effect was produced of clouding this complex issue. The legal services sector is unlike any other. The legislator has repeatedly used the argument that market mechanisms should apply directly to legal services. Such rules, however, must not be applied directly without accounting for the specific nature of the legal profession. Once the number of lawyers goes up, the availability of their services will certainly improve, but will the quality remain unaffected? Another question is whether the cause of improving access to legal council justifies measures in the new act that curtail independence? Could no other means have been used to achieve the goal?

By admitting to the Bar persons who have not gone through the trainee period and who only formulate and apply the law and perform services that involve the formulation and application of the law, the quality of legal services becomes potentially compromised. The advocate training is not just any regular training. It is a test of trainee fitness for the legal profession. The profession requires not only legal knowledge but also a strong morality and integrity. A candidate for the profession should demonstrate his or her suitability to the Bar Association. The advocate training is the only effective test instrument that can be used for the purpose. There is another critical risk in waiving the training requirement, which is that the Bar Association will lose all say in deciding who will become its member. The system runs contrary to the rules of democracy and undermines the significance of the Bar Association as a guarantor of the independence of the Bar. Similar effects can be expected to come from stripping the Bar Association of its power to decide who is to undergo training as the authority to do so has been passed over to the state with a supervisory function vested in the Ministry of Justice. The model has put off many lawyers who associate it with the past political system, and, more importantly, raised concerns as to the consequences of the new solutions. A lawyer who is independent of the Bar Association and who has incidentally become its member will not be inclined to be loyal to the Association. This, infact, as non-political as it may sound, may prove to be quite dangerous. The concern is not as much about professional loyalty but rather about holding up the principles that safeguarded by the Bar Association. The most important of them is the principle of independence and honesty. What has upset the legal community even more regarding the amendment is that it came up with a number of existing or planned legal changes concerning the legal profession. The key change that has come into effect in a new regulation is to allow for legal representation in civil cases to be provided by persons who are neither attorneys not legal advisors. The most essential novelty is the thorough reorganization of the disciplinary system by transferring some of the related powers outside of the Bar Association. The trend undermines one of the most important historic the accomplishment of the Bar which is to achieve independence. The Bar's independence rests on the independence of the Bar Association and individual lawyers. Independence in practicing the profession is a major guarantee of ethical standards. Such independence is not mainly about the independence of disciplinary courts and control over Bar Association members regardless of political and other pressures. Once allowed to affect the Bar system, as in the case of passing the authority over examinations to the Ministry of Justice, political influence will undermine both the independence of the Bar Association and that of lawyers themselves.

To return to the title cited earlier, there seems to be little question about the fact that lawyers in Poland are witness to a revolution in the profession. Not only do they stand witness. There is a need for more involvement on their part in a way that is constructive, proactive and positive. Otherwise the Bar Association will become a union of lawyers who join it without any control on its part and who perform their duties fully detached from the Association and without any accountability thereto. Whereas from the standpoint of a regular client, the traditions and values cultivated and upheld by the Bar Association are of little consequence, its faithfulness to such principles as independence, honesty and professionalism are of utmost importance.

In summary, it should be noted that as well-intentioned as they were, the Polish reforms are being carried out using imperfect means. In my personal view, the depriving of the Bar Association of authority over admission to the Bar has failed to ensure transparency of the procedure of entry into the legal profession. No such guarantees are inherent in the system of centrally setting the composition of examination committees, subordinating them to the Minister or abandoning the oral part of the competition examination. A change of the evaluating party alone will not ensure a fair assessment of candidates. The transparency of admission to the bar has been additionally undermined by allowing candidates to avoid advocate training – this, in my opinion, stands in sharp contrast with the original argument for reform. The only evaluation criterion embedded in the system is the technical knowledge of the candidates. One must not allow, however, for verification of lawyer integrity and morality to take place only after they have already been placed in their positions of employment

.

The amendment of the Polish Bar Act is by no means an all-cure for the ailments of the Polish Bar system. As the important controls of the system are handed over to the state, new risks arise. All of this should make us search for alternative solutions. We should pursue the same end using alternative means. Note also that one cannot overestimate the importance of the legal community getting involved in solving this issue. The active mobilization of their knowledge and experience is critical for conducting a proper and thorough reform of the Bar that will adequately account for all of the intricacies of its system.

## Introductory Speech of Dr. Margarete von Galen

It is a great honour for me to speak before this conference which deals with the role of the defence Lawyers. I am delighted that I have the opportunity to present the situation as it is in Germany. Even if some aspects of the German system can be seen with a critical eye, we are still very much aware that we do enjoy a very high standard concerning the rule of law.

To start with, I shall give you a short overview of the terms and conditions how to become a defence lawyer in Germany. Then I shall touch on the role of the Bar Association as a regulatory body. Finally I shall come to speak of the matters which defence counsels were confronted during the 1970s at the time of the terrorism trials connected with the Red Army Faction. I will close with a short summary concerning the situation of today.

There are 28 regional bar associations in Germany dealing with regional concerns and issues affecting the legal profession, and one Federal Bar Association which deals with concerns and issues affecting the Bar associations as a whole. Every lawyer must be accredited by the Bar association responsible for the area in which his law firm is domiciled. Membership of the Bar is mandatory. There are no lawyers who are not members of the Bar.

Legal training in Germany is divided into two separate phases. Each phase ends with a state examination: first a university course, and second a two-year period of practical training accompanied by the teaching of theory, funded by the state. This training period ends with the second state examination. Everybody who has successfully passed the second state examination is eligible for admittance to the Bar. The admittance is conducted by the Bar association itself and gives a lawyer,

an entitlement to act before all courts in Germany. (There are some exceptions concerning civil law, but they don't matter in this context.)

Thus in criminal cases from the first day of his admittance to the Bar a lawyer is empowered to appear before all courts in the land, including the Federal Supreme Court of Justice.

Each lawyer pays a fee covering the administrative charges of admission. In addition, he is also obliged to pay an annual fee to the Bar. Such fees vary from region to region, but they all come within the compass of the charges that I can cite for Berlin where the administrative fee for admittance to the Bar is EUR 250, and the annual fee is EUR 306.-.

Whoever wants to stand out from the crowd of some 135,000 lawyers currently hosted by Germany can go for the laurels of the title "Specialist Lawyer in Criminal Law". The award is granted by the regional Bar association itself. But even those without this specific title can take over the role of defence counsel in criminal proceedings at any time. The Bar associations have no regulation in this matter.

I shall now touch on the regulatory and supervisory functions of the Bar associations:

The regional Bar associations are autonomous corporations under public law. Self-administration among lawyers has a long tradition in Germany. The Bar associations were first established 126 years ago, and since then their structures have remained largely unchanged – only the Nazi era imposed limitations on the powers of lawyers to regulate themselves. The Bar associations are subject to a supervision by the Regional Ministry of Justice. But this supervisory body has little practical effect. The Ministry rarely interferes in the affairs of the bars.

First and foremost, the bar assumes the role of the supervisory authority for all accredited lawyers. Moreover, the bar is the key body representing lawyers' interests at large. For instance, in this capacity it delivers statements of position on legislative procedures and represents lawyers' interests when it comes to the settlement of conflicts between the legal profession and the judiciary.

The Bar associations monitor lawyers' compliance with their professional obligations. If a lawyer infringes on them, the Bar association may issue a reprimand or pass the matter on to the Prosecutor General for further investigation. The Prosecution has a special department dedicated to the violation of laws on the profession.

If the lawyer should appeal against the reprimand by the Bar, or should the prosecution bring an action against him, proceedings are brought before a special tribunal established by the Bar for handling complaints against lawyers. This tribunal is a special branch of the judiciary that deals exclusively with violations of the laws governing the lawyers' profession, the accreditation or revocation of accreditation, and disputes over the awarding of specific lawyers' titles. There are three instances. The first two instances are staffed by a majority of lawyers who in these cases act as judges. Only the third instance is majored by regular judges. We

cannot say that nowadays a defence counsel would run any particular danger of being accused before a Bar tribunal.

But there were times when numerous defence counsels had to justify their conduct in a court of law in proceedings before the bar tribunals. Those were the times of the terrorism trials for the crimes of the "Red Army Faction" in the 1970s. Representing the interests of their clients in a trial and using every op-portunity offered by procedural law to do so, led to conflicts with the courts and the prosecution.

This was accompanied with bitter hostility on the part of the government. The then federal minister of justice said at that time "both the accused and the defence counsel make an exceptionally intensive use of all opportunities offered by legal procedure .... We are dealing with people who are ruthless in exploiting each and every possibility offered by the rule of law." A government statement declared, "The rule of law would be damaged if extremist forces succeed in turning the Courts into their stamping ground thereby mounting a challenge to the enforcement of the state's entitlement to instigate criminal proceedings in a trial governed by the rule of law."

In a case brought before the tribunal of the Berlin Bar association the prosecution applied to have the lawyer Hans-Christian Ströbele – today a well known member of the German parliament and member of the Green Party - banned from practising his profession. In spite of the political pressure, the bar tribunal ruled against this apply.

So today it is practically unknown for the conduct of the defence counsel - as long as it does not infringe general statutes of criminal law - to become the object of a case on the violation of laws on the profession.

Defence counsels may undertake all manner of things which are useful to their clients provided they are legally non-objectionable. The defence counsel may put forward claims about whose accuracy he himself has doubts. As long as he does not consider such claims to be completely devoid of foundation, he is in fact obliged, in the best interests of his client, to bring them before the court; even if he considers that there is the possibility the claims might be incorrect. Not allowed are deliberate lies on the part of the defence counsel. He must keep well away from wilful obscuring and distorting.

Ladies and Gentlemen, I hope that I have succeeded in showing how a free, self-governing and self-regulating legal profession can ensure that the defence lawyer plays his or her adequate role in a fair trial according to the rule of law.

## **Session III: Equality of Parties in Criminal Proceedings**

**Introducers:** Ms. Louise Christian, Lawyer, United Kingdom

Mr. Yuri Schmidt, Lawyer, Russian Federation

### Summary of the Introductory Speech of Ms. Louise Christian

Concerns were expressed about the right of the client to choose their lawyer. In the UK this is an enshrined right. The term 'Equality of Arms' does not appear in international conventions; UN Basic Principles and the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) do not mention it, but rather regulate different rights that define the principles that make up the ingredients of the concept.

Equality of arms is always an aspiration but not something that can be completely achieved. People are often prejudged as being guilty well before the end of their trials. This is especially true in terrorist cases where the state is under pressure to convict. When there are concerns about the independence of the court, it is difficult to speak about equality of arms, but lawyers can make a difference. The current case of the prisoners in Guantanamo Bay, some of whom Ms.Christian represented, is a case in point. Despite the fact that there is no access to prisoners in Guantanamo or to trials by military commissions, the appointed military lawyers were as concerned about the conditions in Guantanamo as civil lawyers. In such cases defence lawyers can be compared with David in the biblical story of David and Goliath. All the physical strength lies with the state, and one cannot win by virtue of sheer strength but by virtue of intelligence and perseverance.

Ms.Christian has been practicing law in the United Kingdom for twenty-six years and has seen great improvements. Twenty-six years ago, in one of her first cases, a person was charged with murder. She was not allowed to speak to him in private or see him for a week. Nowadays this is unthinkable. The relevant legislation was amended and these conditions were changed. In those days it was considered irregular to refer to the ECHR, and indeed in one case Ms.Christian was censured for mentioning it. Now one could be censured for not doing so since the ECHR has been incorporated into the legal system of the United Kingdom. Indeed one of the most powerful weapons in a defence lawyer's armory is the international conventions enshrining the rights of presumption of innocence. It is up to the prosecution to prove guilt.

The Prosecutor is obliged to fully disclose all the materials, information and evidence they have gathered. Ms. Christian defended a woman whose husband went to Israel to become a suicide bomber. She was accused of having known what he had been planning and then failing to inform the authorities. During the search of her house all her papers were taken by the police. However, evidence within those papers that proved her innocence was ignored by the police. That evidence was brought into court and she was acquitted. Defence lawyers must always demand to see all the evidence gathered by investigators, even that which the prosecution is not using or does not plan to use.

In the United Kingdom there is what has been called public interest immunity. According to this rule some evidence cannot be presented on the basis that it might prejudice an individual's security in the case of informers, or state security.

In some cases expertise is required to deal with technical issues. One example of this involves a terrorist trial where surveillance of defendants revealed several persons speaking at once. Experts were needed to make sure that the evidence was not tampered with. In such cases the defence needs experts of the same calibre as those presented by the prosecution.

Subjective prejudicial coverage in the media must be challenged by defence lawyers. In one of Ms. Christian's cases, that of the woman whose husband became a suicide bomber, the media referred to her client as the "woman of terror" before her trial. In cases like this it is the responsibility of the attorney general, who is a member of the Government, to stop this kind of highly prejudicial coverage.

The final message is this: everywhere lawyers have to struggle for equality of arms and it is our obligation to carry out that struggle as good lawyers will never stop trying to achieve it.

## Introductory Speech of Mr. Yuri Schmidt

In 1991 the Supreme Council of the Russian Soviet Federal Socialistic Republic adopted a Concept Paper on judicial reform in Russian Federation. It was a document respectable in every sense. Along with democratic principles of adjudication, the Concept Paper set forth a specific plan for gradual reform of the judiciary. Today it is difficult to say, how the reform would be implemented if it was not for difficult political and economic situation in Russia during the first years after the collapse of the Soviet Union and extreme events of autumn 1993.

At the same time, quite possibly it was the shooting and dismissal of the Supreme Council that stimulated the prompt adoption of the new Constitution. Overall, the new Constitution was democratic, as it included some of the most important human rights principles and guarantees envisioned by the Concept Paper, i.e. adversarial process and equality of arms, jury trial and possibility of pretrial detention only on the basis of court order. It should be noted however, that implementation of the latter two principles was conditioned on the adoption of new laws and thus significantly delayed.

Starting from mid-1990s, the reform went very slowly. The government neither impeded the process, nor did it have sufficient political will to advance it. It was probably Russia's desire to join the Council of Europe that prompted the adjustment of the Criminal Code in compliance with the European Convention of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. The key role in reforming the Criminal Code at that time belonged to the Constitutional Court of Russian Federation, especially during the presidency of Justice M. Tumanov and tenure of Justice T. Morshchakova and the late Justice E. Ametistov. The reform, however, practically stopped after Russia was accepted to the Council of Europe in 1998.

The reform received new impetus during the first two years of Putin's presidency due to titanic efforts of Mr. Dmitry Kozak, chief of Presidential Administration at the time. However, Mr. Kozak's efforts were soon held back, and later he was relocated to the Southern Region (Chechnya, Dagestan and the rest of the Caucasus) to serve as plenipotentiary representative of the President.

In 2003 the judicial reform was stopped, and a retreating process, which continues today, began. The "counter-reform" primarily aims at limiting equality of arms and adversarial nature of the process by diminishing the rights of attorneys and of the accused.

It should be noted that the Ministry of Internal Affairs and the Federal Security Service opposed the judicial reform at all times. The same is true for the Prosecutor's office and courts of all levels. Ironically, the more rights the accused received - the more violations of those rights occurred. Thus, the system of justice administration was trying to preserve itself unchanged. Nevertheless, at some point there appeared to be first signs of an independent judiciary. Courts issued sensational acquittals in several high-profile cases, including the case of environmentalist A. Nikitin, charged with treason. Nothing like that ever happened in the USSR or even in post-communist Russia. At the time of those decisions the Federal Security Service attempted to pressure the courts, but Eltsin administration stayed neutral. Later, the government suppressed these signs of judicial independence, and learned how to manipulate trials - even those heard by jury.

It is well known that in USSR there was an official policy of the party in the field of justice. Courts regularly received guidelines and orders, and engaged in numerous campaigns targeting particular criminal activity. In fact, there was an unofficial prohibition of acquittals.

In order to analyze judicial practice in criminal cases during Putin's presidency, I would like to categorize all trials depending on their political significance and government's interest in their outcomes. Thus, in politically motivated cases (the number of which is rapidly increasing) independence of the judiciary, adversarial trial and equality of arms do not exist. These cases are not governed by law. In some cases, however, the government is interested in acquitting defendants. It happens when the government is forced to prosecute, for example, for murder of civilians in Chechnya. But "staged" trials like that should not be taken into account altogether.

The bulk of cases, where political motivation is absent, are from time to time tried in a manner more or less compatible with democratic standards of adjudication. Unless, of course, these standards are replaced with corruption...

Having limited time for my speech, I won't be able to analyze the entire legal framework in detail. Therefore, I will emphasize only certain aspects thereof and illustrate some of them with examples.

It is absolutely impossible to speak of any degree of equality of arms at a the pretrial stage. During a pretrial investigation, which sometimes lasts for years, investigators and prosecutors are not obliged to inform the accused or her counsel about evidence they have collected. Only a small number of procedural documents are made available for the defense. Obviously, this hurts innocent defendants the most – at times, they have no idea what is going on and what exactly, apart from their involvement in crime, they have to dispute.

The accused are entitled to file petitions. Under Article 159 of the Criminal Procedure Code, investigators and prosecutors "may not deny petitions, filed by the accused for questioning of witnesses, appointment of expert examination or conduct of other procedural actions, under condition, that circumstances to be established by such procedural actions, bear significance to the case". But who, apart from prosecutors and investigators, determines which circumstances "bear significance for the case"? Therefore, denial of petitions filed by defendants is a

normal practice during pretrial investigation. Moreover, any piece of paper found and attached to the case file by an investigator, is considered evidence by default. In order to find it inadmissible, defense has to be very active and apply significant efforts.

The law provides for a possibility to appeal "unlawful actions and decisions" of investigators and prosecutors to court. Unfortunately, judicial supervision over conduct of investigators and prosecutors boils down to a mere formality. Firstly, judges consider such complaints additional burden on top of their main duties and don't like to scrutinize them. Secondly, judges bear no responsibility for the outcomes of reviewing such complaints. Regardless of the outcome, judges have nothing to do with it. Finally, judicial supervision over conduct of investigators and prosecutors could be improved by having a single judge assigned to review defendants' complaints. In reality, complaints regarding the same case are often reviewed by different judges. For example, in a case against Yuriy Samodurov, Director of Sakharov Museum, the defense simultaneously filed three complaints alleging unlawful conduct of an investigator. It would only make sense that the complaints were reviewed by a single judge, but despite attorney's efforts the complaints were examined by three different judges.

Article 53 of the Russian Criminal Procedure Code (hereafter "CPC") provides for the right of defense attorney to "collect and submit evidence, necessary for rendering legal assistance in the case". However, this rule is only a declaration. In reality, an attorney can only petition her *procedural opponent* to attach evidence to the case file, and the latter decides whether she needs additional headache. Should the petition to attach evidence be denied, scenario described in the paragraph above will take place.

There is no guarantee that the materials you submit will be attached to the case file. Let me give my younger colleagues a piece of advice based on 45 years of my experience as a defense attorney. Make sure that you file all petitions to attach evidence to a case file in writing. Moreover, include the evidence itself as an *attachment* to the petition. This does not guarantee that the investigator will accept, for example, expert findings. Therefore, you should reproduce those findings in the petition. Even if a procedural action for which you petition is not granted, there is no way for the investigator not to accept the petition itself.

It is possible to resubmit all petitions, rejected during pretrial investigation, at the hearing on the merits. However, timing can be vital. Besides, if your petition was previously denied, you will probably face the same resistance from your opponent in court. In this regard, I would like to tell you how Meshchansky district court of Moscow city treated petitions, filed by defense in the case of M. Hodorkovsky and P. Lebedev.

First of all, at the time of filing the petition the court neither allowed the defense to voice the importance of documents which were sought to be attached to the case file, nor did it allow talking about their substance. The court justified its conduct under Article 286 of CPC, according to which documents submitted for the hearing on the merits "may by decision of the court be examined and attached to the criminal case file". The second source of law, referred to by the court, was Article 285 of CPC under which documents attached to the case file may be fully

or partially announced at the hearing if "they state or certify the circumstances, which bear significance for the criminal case".

Therefore, our attempts to *justify* the petition for attaching the documents to the case file were defeated by the judge's argument that the documents may only be examined on the basis of a court decision. But in order for the court to make such decision, it must be attested that the documents sought to be attached *state or certify the circumstances*, *which bear significance for the criminal case*. How can this be attested without scrutinizing the substance of the documents? As a result, in most instances the judge would simply ask us to hand the documents over to the prosecutor for determination of significance. The prosecutor (who, regardless of the volume, always needed less than 15 minutes for examination of the documents) objected our petition every time. The grounds for objection were always far-fetched and sometimes even comic. For instance, if we were attaching a duly certified copy of a court decision from a different case, the prosecutor would claim inadmissibility on the grounds that the court's letterhead has an "incorrect" coat of arms – there is no heraldic shield behind the two-headed eagle.

Another document, which we sought to attach in that case, was dismissed by the prosecutor and later by the court based on Article 53, paragraph 1 section 2 of CPC. We were told, that according to Article 53, it was the *attorney* who had the right to collect and submit evidence, but in our case the document we sought to attach was collected by our *law firm*, which is not an attorney! Do I need to comment this?

In other instances, expert findings were denied on the ground that the person employed by the defense in the capacity of expert was not deemed an expert prior to making of the findings. Accordingly, the prosecutor claimed violation of the procedure set forth in Articles 58 and 168 of CPC. It turns out that the attorney is deprived of the right to use experts. In practice, the attorney must first file a relevant petition with the investigator or court, and only in case of an affirmative answer, she may contact an expert. This situation is contrary to the letter and the spirit of the law.

Russian courts still give the same weight to witness testimonies received during pretrial investigation, and those received at the hearing on the merits. I would even say that the preference is given to the former, despite the fact that at the pretrial stage witnesses testify one-on-one with an investigator. Such testimonies are often given in the absence of the witness' attorney, and always in the absence of the defendant's attorney. However, striving to implement the principles of oral nature of court proceedings and direct examination of evidence by the court, the new CPC of the Russian Federation limited the ability to disclose the substance of testimonies given during pretrial investigation. Nevertheless, Article 281 of CPC was amended in 2003 to allow the disclosure of pretrial testimonies in cases of their "significant inconsistency" with testimonies given during the trial. It is clear, that in the majority of cases this Article is used to further the interests of the prosecution. Clearly, it is impossible to prove any kind of inconsistency without disclosing the content of the pretrial testimony. In the Hodorkovsky case, the court never refused the prosecutor to use pretrial witness testimonies. Yet, not once had the court inquired what the claimed inconsistency was.

At all stages of a trial the accused and her attorney may be limited in time to prepare for the case and to familiarize themselves with the trial record. In politically motivated cases, including the case of M. Hodorkovsky, such limitations are set with exceptional arbitrariness. I would not want to repeat the story of review of that case in the cassation court – most of those present here are well familiar with it. In order to prevent registration of M. Hodorkovsky as a candidate for elections to the State Duma, the court of cassation (following the government's orders) called a hearing with violations of all legal and ethical rules. I know from the media, that Saddam Hussein's attorneys requested three additional months to prepare for the case. The court shortened this term, but still gave them one-and-a-half months. On September 22, 2005, Mr. Hodorkovsky asked the Moscow city court for 8 weeks to familiarize himself with the charges (700 pages), the trial record (6500 pages), and with the appellate briefs (roughly 1000 pages) and to prepare his defense. The court gave him neither 8 weeks for preparation, nor even 1 day to see a lawyer.

The situation described above is primarily caused by ambiguity of the relevant legal provisions. However, it does not so much characterize the legal framework as inadequate, but rather illustrates the facts of outrageous violations of rights of the accused in politically motivated cases. Another legislative shortcoming in regulating the procedure in cassation courts is that the defense is deprived of the right to a closing argument. It means that before the court leaves for deliberation, the last word belongs to the prosecutor.

As I stated previously, in Russia we are not hoping for the continuation or advancing of the judicial reform. It would be great if we could preserve what we have. But we know of several retreating legislative initiatives, and there is little that can stop them from becoming laws in the nearest future. Russian government feels too confident. In the past, Western countries had such mechanisms of influence as selling wheat and giving loans to Russia. Today, however, oil prices relieve Russia of the necessity to entertain opinions of foreign governments or even the opinion of its own public.

# ANNEX VIII: CLOSING REMARKS AMBASSADOR CHRISTIAN STROHAL



## **Closing Remarks**

## by Ambassador Christian Strohal

# OSCE Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting »Role of Defence Lawyers in Guaranteeing a Fair Trial«

## 3-4 November 2005 Tbilisi, Georgia

The vibrant discussions of these two days have clearly shown that the topic of this Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting is indeed important and timely. It was particularly rewarding to have here so many practitioners and leaders of the legal community.

The Meeting demonstrated how complex and closely intertwined are the issues we discussed: the right to a fair trial requires access to professional and competent legal counsel; admission to the bar and the bar regulation are linked with the availability of lawyers and their professional and ethics standards; the role that defence lawyers are allowed to play in criminal proceedings is crucial to ensuring the fairness of criminal trials and protection of human rights.

We heard from the participating States which are in the process of reform of the defence bar and from some who intend to undertake reform in the future.

We also heard numerous reports from individual lawyers on the situation for the defence bar, and on their abilities to do their jobs in their countries. Unfortunately, many of these reports have only served to highlight the fact that many participating States in the OSCE region still have a long way to go to ensure that defence lawyers enjoy the full protection of the law in defending their clients. These sometimes disturbing reports help to answer one of the questions posed by our Keynote Speaker, Sir Sydney Kentridge, when he asked: "why in 2005 do we need a meeting devoted to this topic?" The discussions during the last two days showed that there is still much work to be done before this topic is passé.

This only underscores the need for exchange of experience and best practices among the participating States in carrying out reform.

At the same time, it also highlights the need for similar exchange, dialogue and co-operation *within* participating States, among the different groups and stakeholders in the criminal justice system.

At first glance it may have seemed that some questions raised and debated during this Meeting were rather dry and technical. But as we all know, the devil is in the detail, and we should not forget that these technicalities determine the availability of effective legal assistance to the people – in criminal but also in civil cases, enabling them to exercise and enjoy their rights, and creating a favourable climate for economic development.

I am grateful to the many speakers who pointed out the need to balance, on one hand, the public interest to have access to professional but also affordable legal services, and, on the other hand, the legal profession's interest in independence, self-governance, and upholding high professional standards for its members. In finding this balance, the States should also be mindful of their obligation, often enshrined in national constitutions, to ensure competent legal assistance for their poorest citizens. Too many citizens in the OSCE participating States go on trial without the benefit of professional counsel.

Over the last years, the ODIHR has provided assistance in reform of the legal profession including strengthening the role of defence lawyers. Yesterday and today I heard calls for more ODIHR involvement in these issues. Of course my Office will continue to lend expertise and render whatever assistance is practical. You are encouraged to make full use of the experience and expertise available in the ODIHR.

So how can we take this meeting, and the numerous suggestions and recommendations made, forward together?

I would encourage the participating States to keep this issue high on the political agenda. Clearly one SHDM cannot solve these problems. There is a need for continuing, long-term and consistent involvement, including legislative and administrative measures.

Serious attention should be paid to ensuring full implementation of the existing laws in practice so they are not simply empty words on a page. In addition to ongoing work at the domestic level, this topic should continue to be addressed on the OSCE agenda.

This meeting has also shown that the OSCE commitments in the field of legal assistance and legal profession undertaken by the participating States in Copenhagen in 1990 and in Moscow in 1991 continue to be of great importance and relevance. There also appears to be room for expanding the commitments on these issues to make them more comprehensive and giving greater guidance to the participating States in guaranteeing the right to legal counsel, better bar regulation, and equality of parties in criminal proceedings.

Beyond, we will have to ensure that a comprehensive approach is taken on the criminal justice system as a whole. Ms Christian suggested that equality of arms might not be fully attainable, but that defence lawyers will continue to fight for it. I would add the following: the State has to fight for it as well.

And Sir Sidney pointed out that it is not only the great cases that demonstrate our commitment to the rule of law – indeed, it is the everyday cases, the anonymous ones, as it were, which serve as a reality check, and as a litmus test.

In conclusion, allow me a few words of thanks. We are grateful for the insight of the OSCE Chairmanship in recognizing the importance of this topic. I want to thank again our generous hosts, the Government of Georgia, for their hard work towards the success of this meeting; a special word of thanks goes to Ambassador Dolidze.

This meeting was defined by the remarkably high quality of the participants' input. I am grateful to all of you for making the journey and for your active participation and your excellent recommendations. I also want to thank again our Keynote Speaker, and our introducers.

My special thanks go also to the OSCE conference services and the ODIHR staff who started the preparations of this Meeting many months ago and worked for long hours here in Tbilisi. The rapporteurs, note-takers, and our moderator also deserve a special mention and thanks for their hard work. Finally, thanks to our interpreters without whom we would not have been able to have this meeting.

#### ANNEX IX: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

## **OSCE Delegations/Partners for Co-operation**

## **GERMANY**

## Dr. Eltje ADERHOLD

Counsellor E-mail: pol-s1osze@wien.diplo.de

## Permanent Mission of the Federal Republic of Germany to the OSCE

Metternichgasse 3; 1030 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-1-711 54 132 Fax: +43-1-711 54 268

## **UNITED STATES OF AMERICA**

#### Ms. Robin BROOKS

Political Officer

E-mail: BrooksRS@state.gov

#### **United States Mission to the OSCE**

Obersteinergasse 11/1; 1190 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-1-313 39 32 06 Fax: +43-1-313 39 32 55

#### Ms. Sarah PROSSER

Attorney-Adviser

E-mail: prosserse@state.gov

## U.S. Department of State

**U.S. Helsinki Commission** 

2201 C Street N.W.; Washington, D.C. 20520; U.S.A.

234 Ford House Office Builling; Washington, D.C.

Tel.: 1-202-647 27 31

### Ms. Dorothy TAFT

Deputy Chief of Staff

⊢-

mail: Dorothy.Taft@mail.house.

gov

#### Mr. Vakhtang ADAMIA

Inl. Assistant

#### Mr. Christopher PANICO

Ms. Ann Marie YATISHOCK

# Fax: +1-202-226 41 99 U.S. Embassy in Tbilisi

Tel.: +1-202-225 19 01

Tbilisi; Georgia

20515; U.S.A.

#### U.S. Embassy in Tbilisi

Tbilisi; Georgia

#### U.S. Embassy in Tbilisi

Tbilisi; Georgia

#### Mr. Vahe DEMIRCHYAN

Specialist at the Department of the Judicial Reforms

E-mail: vahik79@mail.ru

#### **ARMENIA**

## Ministry of Justice

3, V. Sargsyan Str.; 375010 Yerevan; Armenia

Tel.: +374-10-58 22 15

#### Ms. Alexandra PICHLER

## **AUSTRIA**

#### **Federal Ministry for Foreign Affairs**

Ballhausplatz 2; 1014 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-501 15 00 Fax: +43-501 15 90

### Mr. Alexandr LARIN

Chairman of the Lawyers Collegium

E-

mail: osce.coe.unit@mfa.org.by

## **BELARUS**

## Ministry of Justice

Mira ave. 18A, Mogilev, Belarus

Tel.: +375-22-231 16 21 Fax: +375-22-231 16 22

#### Mr. Timon Bo SALOMONSON

Second Secretary

E-

mail: timon.salomonson@diplobel.

## Ms. Jozefien VAN DAMME

**Human Dimension** 

E-

mail: jozefien.vandamme@diplobel

Ms. Sabrie SAPUNDZHIEVA

.fed.be

#### BUL

**Deputy Minister of Justice** 

## **BELGIUM**

## Permanent Mission of Belgium to the OSCE

Wohllebengasse 6/3; 1040 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-1-505 63 64 Fax: +43-1-505 03 88

#### Federal Public Service Foreign Affairs

Department M 4.6, Reu des Petits Carmes,15; 1000-

Brussels; Belgium Tel.: +32-2-501 30 22 Fax: +32-2-501 30 45

## **BULGARIA**

#### Ministry of Justice

1 Slavyanska Str.; 1000 Sofia; Bulgaria

mail: sabrie.sapundjieva@justice.govern

ment.bg

Mr. Mario MARINOV Second Secretary E-mail: mmarinov@gol.ge

Tel.: +359-2-988 33 69 Fax: +359-2-987 15 64

Embassy of the Republic of Bulgaria to **Georgia**61, Agmashenebeli Str.; Tbilisi; Georgia

## Ms. Tatjana KRALJ DRAGANIC

Human Rights Department E-mail: tatjana.kralj-draganic@mvp.hr

#### Mrs. Fabienne DROUT-LOZINSKI

Deputy Head of Mission E-mail: Fabienne.DROUT-LOZINSKI@diplomatie.gouv.fr

#### Amb. Gela BEZHUASHVILI

Minister of Foreign Affairs of Georgia

#### Mr. Konstantine KEMULARIA

Minister of Justice of Georgia

#### Amb. Victor DOLIDZE

Permanent Representative

E-

mail: vienna@geomission.jet2w eb.at

#### Mr. Sozar SUBARI

Public Defender (Ombudsman) of Georgia

E-

mail: Subari@ombudsman.ge

#### Mr. Natalia TSAGARELI

Specialist of the Division for Administrative Law

E-

mail: natocagareli@hotmail.co

m

#### Ms. Anna NADAREISHVILI

Senior Prosecutor

F-

mail: ann\_nadareishvili@yahoo

.com

### Ms. Maia TETRAULI

Prosecutor

E-mail: mtetrauli@yahoo.com

#### Mr. George CHIGLADZE

E-

mail: gtchigladze@hotmail.com

#### Ms. Eka KENCHADZE

E-

mail: e\_kenchadze@security.g ov.ge

#### Ms. Rusudan TUSHURI

Head of International Legal Relations Department

E-mail: tushuri@justice.gov.ge

#### Ms. Thea ZARNADZE

Head of International Treaty Department

E-

#### **CROATIA**

#### **Ministry of Foreign Affairs**

Trg Nikole Šubisa Zrinskog 7-8; 10000 Zagreb; Croatia

Tel.: +385-1-459 77 81 Fax: +385-1-459 74 16

### **FRANCE**

#### **Embassy of the French Republic**

Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-23 64 44 Fax: +995-32-95 33 75

### **GEORGIA**

## **Ministry for Foreign Affairs**

Chitadze Str. 4; 380018 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-28 47 47 Fax: +995-32-28 47 61

#### **Ministry of Justice**

30, Rustaveli Avenue; 380046 Tbilisi; Georgia

Fax: +995-32-75 82 76

## Permanent Mission of Georgia to the OSCE

Doblhofgasse 5/5; 1010 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-1-403 98 48 Fax: +43-1-403 98 48 20

#### Office of Public Defender of Georgia

11 Machabeli Str.; 0105 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-54 70 08 Fax: +995-32-92 24 70

#### Office of Public Defender of Georgia

11 Machabeli Str.; 0105 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-15 66 82 Fax: +995-32-92 24 70

#### Office of the Prosecutor General of Georgia

24, Gorgasali st. 0133; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-99 06 27 Fax: +995-32-99 06 27

#### Office of the Prosecutor General of Georgia

24, Gorgasali st. 0133; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-99 06 27 Fax: +995-32-99 06 27

#### Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia

10 Gia Gulua Str.; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-77 18 00 Fax: +995-32- 27 28 28

#### Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia

10 Gia Gulua Str.; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-93-35 25 00 Fax: +995-32-27 28 28

#### **Ministry of Justice**

30, Rustaveli Avenue; 380046 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-70 04 40 Fax: +995-32-75 82 76

#### **Ministry of Justice**

30, Rustaveli Avenue; 380046 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-93-33 55 46 Fax: +995-32-75 82 76

mail: zarnadze@justice.gov.ge

Ms. Leila **ARKHOSHASHVILI** 

Judge

Mr. Nugzar BIRKAIA

Chairman

E-mail: prezidium@yahoo.com

Ms. Lali PAPIASHVILI

Mr. George KIKNADZE

Member of the Prezidium E-mail: prezidium@yahoo.com

Mrs. Rusudan **DIDEBULIDZE** 

Second Secretary of Department for Legal Issues and Relations with the

Parliament

mail: ruskadidebulidze@yahoo.

com

Supreme Court of Georgia

32 Dzmebi Zubalashvilebi Str.; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-53 12 87

**Board of Advocates of Georgia** 

19 Akhvlediani Str.; 0146 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-99-57 25 25 Fax: +995-32-99 95 98

Parliament of Georgia

8 Rustaveli Ave.; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-30 32 22

**Board of Advocates of Georgia** 

19 Akhvlediani Str.; 0146 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-99 95 38 Fax: +995-32-99 95 38

Ministry for Foreign Affairs

Chitadze Str. 4; 380018 Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-38 62 62 Fax: +995-32-28 46 78

**UNITED KINGDOM / European Union** 

Mr. Stuart ADAM

Second Secretary

mail: Stuart.Adam@fco.gov.uk

Mr. Rupert D'CRUZ

Barrister

mail: Anthony.Stanley@fco.gov

.uk

Mr. Brendan WARD

Deputy Head of Mission E-mail: brendan.ward@dfa.ie

Mr. Rustam MADALIEV

Expert of Judicial Sector, Legal

Policy Department

Mr. Abdykerim ASHIROV

Adviser to the Member of the Parliament of the Kyrgyz

Republic

**Mr. Tomas BARANOVAS** 

Deputy Director, Department of Law and International Treaties

mail: tomas.baranovas@urm.lt

Mr. Julius SABATAUSKAS

Member of Parliament, Chairman of the Sub-Committee on the Legal System and Evaluation of the Draft

**United Kingdom Delegation to the OSCE** 

Jauresgasse 12; 1030 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-1-716 13 33 06 Fax: +43-1-716 13 39 00

Foreign & Commonwealth Office

King Charles Street; London, SW1A 2AH; United

Kinadom

Tel.: +44-207-008 34 75 Fax: +44-207-008 32 94

IRELAND

**Permanent Mission of Ireland to the OSCE** 

Rotenturmstrasse 16-18; A-1010 Vienna; Austria

Tel.: +43-1-715 76 98 Fax: +43-1-715 57 55

**KYRGYZSTAN** 

Office of Administration of the President

205, Chui Str.; 720003 Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan

Tel.: +996-312-62 61 62

Parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic

Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan

LITHUANIA

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

J.Tumo-Vaizganto 2; LT-01511 Vilnius; Lithuania

Tel.: +370-6-981 68 76

**Parliament** 

Gedimino ave. 53; LT-2002 Vilnius; Lithuania

Tel.: +370-5-239 60 60

**MOLDOVA** 

#### Ms. Tatiana FILATOVA

Head of the Department for **Drafting Normative Acts** E-

mail: nataliavilcu@yahoo.com

#### Amb. Onno **ELDERENBOSCH**

#### **Prof. Martin KUIJER**

Legal Adviser on Human Rights Law; Directorate of Legislation

E-mail: m.kuijer@minjus.nl

#### Ms. Aleksandra **PIATKOWSKA**

Counsellor; Security Policy Department, OSCE Unit

mail: aleksandra.piatkowska@ms

z.gov.pl

#### Mr. Daniel BOTEA

Legal Adviser

E-mail: dbotea@just.ro

#### Mr. Alexandre **FEDORINOV**

Third Secretary

mail: russianembassy@caucas

us.net

#### Ms. Jozica PUHAR

Ambassador to Georgia, Head of the Delegation of the Slovenian Chairmanship

#### Ms. Urska AJDISEK

**Human Dimension Officer** E-mail: urska.ajdisek@gov.si

#### Ms. Simona DRENIK

Human Dimension Officer E-mail: simona.drenik@gov.si

## Mr. Johan SANGBORN

Deputy Director; Division for Procedural Law and Court Issues

mail: johan.sangborn@justice.min

istry.se

#### Mr. Niculin JAEGER

Deputy Head of Mission

#### **Ministry of Justice**

82, 31 August Str., office 205; MD-2012 Chisinau;

Moldova

Tel.: +373-22-20 14 50 Fax: +373-22-23 47 97

## **NETHERLANDS**

## Embassy of the Kingdom of the Netherlands to

Sheraton Metechi Palace Hotel, 20 Telavi Str.; 0103

Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-77 45 04 Fax: +995-32-77 45 24

#### **Ministry of Justice**

Schedeldoekshaven 100, P.O. Box 20301; NL - 2500 EH

The Hague; the Netherlands Tel.: +31-70-370 48 61 Fax: +31-70-370 79 10

#### **POLAND**

#### Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Aleja Szucha 23; 00-580 Warsaw; Poland

Tel.: +48-22-523 89 99 Fax: +48-22-628 58 41

## **ROMANIA**

#### **Ministry of Justice**

17 Apolodor Street, sector 5; Bucharest; Romania

Tel.: +40-21-410 34 00

#### RUSSIAN FEDERATION

### **Embassy of the Russian Federation to Georgia**

51, Chavchavadze Ave.; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-91 24 06 Fax: +995-32-91 27 38

#### **SLOVENIA**

## Embassy of the Republic of Slovenia to Georgia

#### Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Presernova 25; 1000 Ljubljana; Slovenia

Tel.: +386-1-478 23 67 Fax: +386-1-478 20 85

#### Permanent Mission of the Republic of Slovenia to the OSCE

Gumpendorfer Strasse 11/II/Top 18; 1060 Vienna;

Austria

Tel.: +43-1-581 34 08 25 Fax: +43-1-581 34 17

#### SWEDEN

#### **Ministry of Justice**

SE-10333 Stockholm; Sweden

Tel.: +46-8-405 47 78 Fax: +46-8-791 76 95

#### **SWITZERLAND**

#### **Embassy of Switzerland in Georgia**

Krtsanis 11; 0114 Tbilisi; Georgia

E-

mail: vertretung@tif.rep.admin.

ch

Ms. Elif Selen AY

Legal Adviser

E-mail: esay@mfa.gov.tr

Mr. Ertan YALCYN

Second Secretary

E-mail: eyalcin@mfa.gov.tr

Ms. Inna EMELYANOVA

First Deputy of the Ministry of

Justice

Ms. Svitlana NAUMENKO

**Deputy Head of Department** 

Ms. Olena SEMERKINA

Director

Tel.: +995-32-75 30 01 Fax: +995-32-75 30 06

**TURKEY** 

**Ministry of Foreign Affairs** 

Department of Human Rights (AKGY); Balgat-Ankara;

Turkey

Tel.: +90-312-284 19 07 Fax: +90-312-284 04 96

**Ministry of Foreign Affairs** 

Department of Human Rights (AKGY); Balgat-Ankara;

Turkey

Tel.: +90-312-294 19 07 Fax: +90-312-284 04 96

**UKRAINE** 

**Ministry of Justice** 

Bul. Gorodeckogo 13; 01001 Kyiv; Ukraine

Tel.: +380-44-235 71 79

Department on Constitutional Law and Governance, Law Department, Apparatus of the Parliament of

Ukraine

Kiev, Ukraine

Ministry of Justice of Ukraine, Centre for Legal Reforms and Legislative Drafting

bud. M. Kotsubinskogo 12; 01030 Kiev; Ukraine

Tel.: +380-44-234 80 94

## **International Organizations**

Council of Europe, Office in Georgia

7, Erekle II Lane; 0105 Tbilisi; Georgia http://www.coe.ge

Tel.: +995-32-98 89 77 Ms. Irina ACHBA Fax: +995-32-98 96 57 Assistant of SRSG

E-mail: irina.achba@coe.ge

Office of the European Union Special Representative to Georgia

Chkeidze 38; Tbilisi; Georgia

Mr. Rafal PELC Tel.: +995-877-52 59 46

Rule of Law Expert

2

3

**United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights** 

Palais des Nations; CH-1211 Geneva 10; Switzerland

http://www.unhchr.ch

Mr. Robert HUSBANDS Tel.: +41-22-917 92 90 Fax: +41-22-917 90 10 Human Rights and the Courts

Programme

E-mail: rhusbands@ohchr.org

**United Nations Mission in Georgia** 

Mr. Ivo PETROV

Deputy Special Representative of UN Secretary General for Georgia, Deputy Head of **UNOMIG** 

## **OSCE Institutions / Field Missions**

**OSCE Secretariat** 

OSCE Conference Services, Hofburg-Heldenplatz; 1010 Vienna; Austria http://www.osce.org

Tel.: +43-1-531 37 392 Ms. Elke LIDARIK Fax: +43-1-531 37 577 Superviser, Meetings Support

and Documentation Unit

E-mail: elke.lidarik@osce.org

Tel.: +43-676-450 68 60 Mr. Milorad CUKIC Fax: +43-1-513 37 577 Conference Clerk

mail: milorad.cukic@osce.org

Tel.: +43-1-531 37 392 Mr. Stiig-Mathias Fax: +43-1-531 37 595 **GABRIEL** 

Conference Clerk

E-mail: stiig.gabriel@osce.org

Tel.: +43-1-531 375 92 Ms. Elena GRISHKO Fax: +43-1-531 375 95 Meeting Room Attendant

mail: elena.grichko@osce.org

Tel.: +43-1-531 37 427 Mr. Juergen WEILGUNY Fax: +43-1-531 37 421 Information Technology and

Administration

E-

mail: juergen.weilguny@osce.o

#### **OSCE Presence in Albania**

Rruga Donika Kastrioti, Villa 6; Tirana; Albania http://www.osce.org/Albania/

Ms. Mari-Ann ROOS

Project Manager E-mail: mariann.ross@osce.org Tel.: +355-68-205 78 35 Fax: +355-42-606 73

#### **OSCE Centre in Bishkek**

139 St. Toktogula; 720001 Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan http://www.osce.org/bishkek

Mr. Oktam GAZIEV

Legal Assistant of the OSCE Field Office in Osh

4

#### **OSCE Mission to Georgia**

4 Freedom sq., GMT Plaza; Tbilisi; Georgia http://www.osce.org/georgia

Amb. Roy REEVE

Head of Mission

E-mail: po-ge@osce.org

Mr. Veselin NIKOLAEV

Deputy Head of Mission

Ms. la DADUNASHVILI

Senior Democratization

Assistant

F-

mail: ia.dadunashvili@osce.org

Mr. Sven HOLDAR

**Human Dimension Officer** 

Ms. Tamar

**MAMUKELASHVILI** Senior Rule of Law Assistant

mail: Tamar.Mamukelashvili@o

sce.org

Ms. Valerie MARCHAND

Rule of Law Adviser

F-

mail: valeria.marchand@osce.o

Ms. Iris MUTH

Human Rights Officer

E-mail: iris.muth@osce.org

Mr. Guillaume SIEMIENSKI Head of Human Dimension

Office

F-

mail: Guillaume.Siemienski@os

ce.org

Mr. George TUGUSHI

National Human Rights Officer

mail: george.tugushi@osce.org

Tel.: +995-32-91 06 10 Fax: +995-32-77 96 15

Tel.: +995-32-24 42 01

Fax: +995-32-24 42 02

Tel.: +995-99-11 55 15

Fax: +995-32-24 42 02

Tel.: +995-99-46 90 65

Tel.: +995-99-56 63 06 Fax: +995-32-24 42 02

Tel.: +995-32-24 42 01 ext. 204

Tel.: +995-32-24 42 01 Fax: +995-32-24 42 02

**OSCE Mission in Kosovo** 

Beogradska 29; 38000 Pristina, Kosovo; Serbia and Montenegro http://www.osce/kosovo

69

Ms. Jasmin BINA GOJANI

Assistant Legal Officer

E-

mail: jasmin.gojani@osce.org

Tel.: +381-38-50 01 62 ext. 168

Fax: +381-38-50 01 88

OSCE Spillover Monitor Mission to Skopje
QBE Makedonija Building, 11 Oktomvri Str. n.25; MK-1000 Skopje; the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia http://www.msko.osceint

Mr. Luis CARNASA **BERGA** 

Senior Rule of Law Officer

mail: Luis.Carnasa@osce.org

Tel.: +389-70-35 90 82 Fax: +389-44-35 67 74 7

#### **OSCE Centre in Tashkent**

12B, Afrosiyob Street, Mirobod District; 700015 Tashkent; Uzbekistan http://www.osce.org/tashkent

Mr. Ildar FAYZULLIN

Prison Reform Programme Project Co-ordinator

E-

mail: Ildar.Fayzullin@osce.org

Tel.: +998-93-171 34 60 Fax: +998-71-140 04 66

OSCE Office in Yerevan

89 Teryan St.; 375009 Yerevan; Armenia http://www.osce.org/yerevan

Ms. Maria SILVANYAN

National Assistant Legal

Adviser

mail: maria.silvanyan@osce.or

g

Tel.: +374-10-54 10 62/63/64 Fax: +374-10-54 10 61

## **Non-Governmental Organizations**

"Eka & Co." Law Firm

Tbilisi; Georgia

Ms. Eka BESELIA

Lawyer

2 "CIM"

Kostava Str. 37; Tbilisi; Georgia

Tel.: +995-32-22 07 75

Mr. Guram SIMONISHVILI

E-mail: hcteam@cim.ge

"Evenco" Law Firm

Rakkat Bashi Str., 3A; 700031 Taszkent; Uzbekistan

**Mr. Hushnud AHROROV**Lawyer

Tel.: +998-71-139 43 47
Fax: +998-71-152 29 92

4

"EZGULIK" Human Rights Society of Uzbekistan

Navoi str. 24; Tashkent 700000; Uzbekistan

http://www.ezgulik.org

Tel.: +998-71-125 50 16

Mr. Sukhrobjon ISMOILOV

Human Rights Officer

E-

mail: sukhrob.ismoilov@gmail.c

οm

Fax: +998-71-241 85 88

"Legal Aid" Law Firm, Public Defender Center

Fergana; Uzbekistan Tel.: +998-732-24 42 86

Mr. Bahtiyor ABDULLAEV

Lawyer

E-

mail: fergana.legal.uz@mail.ru

Ms. Feruza VALIEVA

Lawyer

Tel.: +998-732-24 42 86

Mr. Abdukahor USMANOV

Lawyer

# Academy of Ecological Sciences of Georgia

Ms. Marian TSITSKISHVILI

E-mail: eco\_marat@rimbler.ru

Advocates Union of Armenia

3, Zakyan Str.; 375010 Yerevan; Armenia

Mr. Ruben SAHAKYAN

President

Mr. Georgi GULKANYAN

Vice-President E-mail: levon\_teravetik@mail.ru Tel.: +374-10-56 40 28 Fax: +374-91-41 17 95

Tel.: +995-32-93 55 49

Tel.: +374-10-56 40 28

9 Aktobe Oblast Collegium of Advocates

Aktobe; Kazakhstan

Ms. Raissa YAKUBENKO

Lawyer, Chairperson

All Russian Movement "For Human Rights"

Malyi Kislovsky 7-1-21; Moscow; Russian Federation

http://ww.zaprava.ru

 Mr. Lev PONOMAREV
 Tel.: +7-0950203 50 10

 Executive Director
 Fax: +7-095-202 22 24

Executive Director E-mail: info@zaprava.ru

**Almaty City Collegium of Advocates** 

Almaty; Kazakhstan

Tel.: +7-3272-72 12 33

Fax: +7-3272-72 12 33

KARCHEGENOV

Mr. Kenzhegaly

Director of Board, Lawyer

Ms. Nabira NEYASSOVA

Deputy Director of Board

Ms. Gulnar BAIGAZINA

Lawyer

11

Dr. Daniyar KANAFIN

Lawyer

Mr. Salimzhan MUSSIN

Lawyer

Law

mail: mussin\_salimzhan@mail.

ru

Mr. Alexandr ROSENZWEIG

Lawyer

Mr. Baturkhan ZHAYLAUOV

Lawyer

12

Almaty City Collegium of Advocates / Juvenile Justice Defence Group

Almaty; Kazakhstan

Ms. Anara BIDASHEVA

Lawyer

13

American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative

#### - ABA/CEELI

740 15th Street, NW; Washington, DC 20005; U.S.A. http://www.abaceeli.org

 Ms. Mary GREER
 Tel.: +1-202-662 19 50

 CrimLaw Director
 Fax: +1-202-662 15 97

E-mail: mgreer@abaceeli.org

Mr. Andew BUHLER
Programme Officer

Ms. Juile GARUCCIO

Programme Officer

14

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Armenia

42/2, Darabakh; 375019 Yerevan; Armenia

Ms. Karen KENDRICK Tel.: +374-10-28 17 84, 27 21 19

Country Director Fax: +374-10-28 17 85

E-mail: ceeli@abaceeli.am

Ms. Narine GASPARIAN

Staff Attorney

 Mr. Andy HAAS
 Tel.: +374-10-28 17 84

 CrimLaw Liaison
 Fax: +374-10-28 17 85

E-mail: ceeli@abaceeli.am

Mr. Hasmik HAKOBYAN Tel.: +374-10-28 17 84, 27 21 19

CrimLaw Staff Fax: +374-10-28 17 85

E-mail: ceeli@abaceeli.am

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Azerbaijan

97 Neftchilar Ave., Apt. 23; 1004 Baku; Azerbaijan http://www.abaceeli.org

**Ms. Aliya ALAKBAROVA** Tel.: +994-12-497 20 78, 79; 447 36 16

Lawyer Fax: +994-12-497 13 96

E-mail: office@aba-az.org

**Ms. Ann FURR** Tel.: +994-12-497 20 78, 79; 447 36 16

Lawyer Fax: +994-12-497 13 96

E-mail: office@aba-az.org

**Mr. Mahir** Tel.: +994-12-497 2- 78, 79; 447 36 16

**MUSHTEIDZADA** Fax: +994-12-497 13 96

Lawyer

E-mail: info@aba-az.org

**Ms. Margaret TABLER** Tel.: +994-12-497 20 78, 29; 447 38 18

Lawyer Fax: +994-12-497 13 96

E-mail: info@aba-az.org

**Ms. Marti TROY** Tel.: +994-12-497 20 78, 79; 447 38 18

Lawyer Fax: +994-12-497 13 96

E-mail: info@aba-az.org

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Belarus

5, Melezha Str., block 1, office 315; 220113 Minsk; Belarus

**Ms. Yelena IVANOVA**Tel.: +375-17-237 11 79
Defence Lawyer/Program CoFax: +375-17-237 11 79

ordinator

17

E-mail: aba@ceeli.org.by

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Ferhadija 27/2; Sarajevo; Bosnia and Herzegovina

http://www.abaceeli.org

Tel.: +387-33-23 20 02, 23 22 95 Ms. Dubravka

Fax: +387-33-23 31 92 **PIOTROVSKI** 

Lawyer

Mr. Claudio SANTORUM Tel.: +387-33-23 20 02, 23 22 95

Fax: +387-33-23 31 92 Lawyer

American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Bulgaria
135 A Rakovski Str., 3rd and 4th Floors; 1000 Sofia; Bulgaria

Tel.: +359-2- 980 80 84 Mr. Eugene BROTT Fax: +359-2-981 13 12 Lawyer

19

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Georgia

6/2 Chanturia Str.; 380069 Tbilisi; Georgia

 Ms. Marilyn ZELIN
 Tel.: +995-32-92 35 78, 79

 Country Director
 Fax: +995-32-92 35 80

E-mail: aba@caucasus.net

 Ms. Erekle GLURJDZE
 Tel.: +995-32-92 35 78, 79

 CrimLaw Resident Staff
 Fax: +995-32-92 35 80

E-mail: aba@caucasus.net

**Ms. Irina JAPARIDZE**Rule of Law Sr. Staff

Tel.: +995-32-92 35 78, 79

Fax: +995-32-92 35 80

E-mail: aba@caucasus.net

 Ms. Tamuna
 Tel.: +995-32-92 35 78, 79

 KHULORDAVA
 Fax: +995-32-92 35 80

CrimLaw Resident Staff E-mail: aba@caucasus.net

**Ms. Irina LORTKIPANIDZE**Lawyer

Tel.: +995-32-92 35 78, 79
Fax: +995-32-92 35 80

E-mail: aba@caucasus.net

 Ms. Melissa MOODY
 Tel.: +995-32-92 35 78, 79

 CrimLaw Liaison
 Fax: +995-32-92 35 80

E-mail: aba@caucasus.net

20

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Moldova

76, Kogalniceanu Str.; 2009 Chisinau; Moldova

#### Ms. Corinne SMITH

Country Director

 Ms. Olympia IOVU
 Tel.: +373-22-23 89 34, 45

 CrimLaw Staff
 Fax: +373-22-23 48 73

E-mail: office@abaceeli.md

21

# American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Russian Federation

10, Mantulinskaya Str., building No. 1, 2nd Floor; 121352 Moscow; Russian Federation

Mr. Richard EMMONS Tel.: +7-095-103 04 36

Director of Criminal Law Programme of CIS

E-

mail: remmons@ceelieurasia.n

et

**Mr. Anton CHAZOV**Lawyer

Tel.: +7-095-205 57 95
Fax: +7-095-789 82 81

E-mail: office@abamos.ru

**Mr. Dan GLODE**Lawyer

Tel.: +7-095-205 57 95
Fax: +7-095-789 82 81

E-mail: office@abamos.ru

 Mr. Alexander PAPERNYI
 Tel.: +7-095-205 57 95

 Lawyer
 Fax: +7-095-789 82 81

E-mail: office@abamos.ru

**Ms. Ekaterina SHUGRINA** Tel.: +7-095-205 57 95 Lawyer Fax: +7-095-789 82 81

E-mail: office@abamos.ru

American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative
- ABA/CEELI, Tajikistan

6, S. Schedrin Str.; 734003 Dushanbe; Tajikistan

Tel.: +992-372-24 15 05 Mr. John HICKEY Fax: +992-372-21 15 02 Rule of Law Country Director

E-mail: johnhickey@ceeli.tj

American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Ukraine

4, Kostyolna Str., #3-4; 01001 Kyiv; Ukraine

Mr. Ray HARDING Tel.: +380-44-492 99 04 Fax: +380-44-492 99 08 CrimLaw Liaison

Mr. Vasiliy KUKHARCHYK

Staff Attorney

23

24

Tel.: +380-44-492 99 04 Ms. Irina ZARETSZKA Fax: +380-44-492 99 08 CrimLaw Staff Tel.: +380-44-492 99 04, 05 Ms. Olga ZHUKOVSKA Fax: +380-44-492 99 08 Lawyer

> American Bar Association/Central European and Eurasian Law Initiative - ABA/CEELI, Uzbekistan

> > 47 Rasulov Str.; 700003 Tashkent; Uzbekistan

Tel.: +998-71-152 65 47 Mr. Bekhzod ALIEV Fax: +998-71-152 74 77 Rule of Law Staff

E-mail: tashkent@abaceeli.uz

Mr. Paul DENENFELD Tel.: +998-71-152 65 47 Fax: +998-71-152 74 77 Criminal Law Liaison

E-mail: tashkent@abaceeli.uz

Tel.: +998-71-152 65 47 Ms. Melissa HOOPER Fax: +998-71-152 74 77 Rule of Law Liaison

E-mail: tashkent@abaceeli.uz

Mr. Shahriyor KHODJAEV Tel.: +998-71-152 65 47 Fax: +998-71-152 74 77 Criminal Law Staff

E-mail: tashkent@abaceeli.uz

Mr. Hurshid KUCHKAROV Tel.: +998-71-152 65 47 Fax: +998-71-152 74 77 Rule of Law Staff

E-mail: tashkent@abaceeli.uz

Amnesty International, Moldova

31, A. Doga Str; MD-2024 Chisinau; Moldova

Mr. Veaceslav TURCANU Tel.: +373-69-12 60 12 Fax: +373-22-27 70 34 Co-ordinator of Program "Lawyers and Human Rights"

E-mail: v.

26

25

turcanu@amnesty.md

Armenian Young Lawyers Association

Nalbandyan Str. 2-7; Yerevan; Armenia http://www.ayla.am

Ms. Gayone MARUKYAN Tel.: +374-10-54 01 99 Fax: +374-10-58 02 99

E-mail: ayla@ayla.am

Art. 42 of the Constitution

Kostava street N 6, third floor; Tbilisi; Georgia

http://www.article42.ge

Mrs. Ketevan Tel.: +995-99-88 56 Fax: +995-32-93 53 22 **KAMASHIDZE** 

**Executive Director** 

E-mail: keti@article42.ge

 Mrs. Manana
 Tel.: +995-32-23 51 52

 KOBAKHIDZE
 Fax: +995-32-93 53 22

Project Director

E-mail: manana@article42.ge

Mrs. Sofia JAPARIDZE
Tel.: +995-32-99 88 56
Legal Assistant, Member of the
Fax: +995-32-93 53 22

Governing Board of the

organization

E-mail: sofo@article42.ge

 Ms. Lia MUKHACHAVRIA
 Tel.: +995-32-93 53 22

 Member of the Board
 Fax: +995-32-93 88 56

E-mail: mukha\_98@yahoo.com

28

## **Association for Legal Politics - Demla**

Box 212; 00171 Helsinki; Finland http://www.demla.fi

Tel.: +358-9-877 03 00

Fax: +358-9-278 72 11

Mr. Markku FREDMAN

Advokat

E-mail: postmaster@demla.fi

29 Association for the Prevention of Torture

Rte de Ferney 10, Case postale 2267; CH-1211 Geneva 2; Switzerland

http://www.apt.ch

 Mr. Matt POLLARD
 Tel.: +41-78-741 54 41

 Legal Advisor
 Fax: +41-22-919 21 80

E-mail: mpollard@apt.ch

 Dr. Matthew Kenneth
 Tel.: +41-22-919 21 70

 PRINGLE
 Fax: +41-22-919 21 80

Programme Officer Europe E-mail: mpringle@apt.ch

Association of Advocates of the Republic of Tajikistan

Tajikistan

Mr. Kayum YUSUPOV

Chairman

30

1 Association of Lawyers, Kyrgyzstan

Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan

Mr. Shamaral MAICHIEV

Lawyer, President of the

Association

**Mr. Nurlan SADYKOV**Tel.: +996-312-42 68 69
President
Fax: +996-312-54 27 79

E-mail: ass2004@mail.ru

Azerbaijan Lawyers Forum

Baku; Azerbaijan

Mr. Isakhan ASHUROV

Lawyer

Mr. Vidadi MIRKAMAL

Lawyer

Mr. Namizad SAFAROV

Lawyer

Mr. Turkel SULEYMANOV

Lawyer

33 Bar Association of Armenia

1, Alek Manoukyan Str.; 375025 Yerevan; Armenia

Mr. Vigen KOCHARYAN

Executive Director E-mail: bara@netsys.am

Tel.: +374-10-44 43 75

34 Bar Association of Azerbaijan Republic

32, Samod Vurgun Str.; Baku; Azerbaijan

**Mr. Shafayat HASANOV**Lawyer

Tel.: +994-12-494 08 70
Fax: +994-12-494 14 95

Mrs. Rena HUSEYNOVA Tel.: +994-12-494 14 95

Lawyer

25

#### **Bar Association of Serbia**

Decanska street 13; 11000 Belgrade; Serbia and Montenegro http://www.advokatska-komora.co.yu

Tel.: +381-11-323 90 72

Mr. Dragoljub DJORDJEVIC

Attorney-at-Law, Member of

the Board

E-mail: komora@eunet.yu

Fax: +381-11-323 22 03

36

## **Belarusian Association of Women Lawyers**

Grodnenskaya Str. 25; Brest; Belarus

Ms. Galina DREBEZOVA Lawyer, Chairperson of the

Association

E-mail: aladv@user.unibel.by

Tel.: +375-162-23 92 61 Fax: +375-162-23 92 61

37

## **Belarusian Helsinki Committee**

68 - 1201, Libkneht Str.; 220036 Minsk; Belarus

http://bhc.unibel.by

Tel.: +375-17-222 48 00

Fax: +375-17-222 48 01

Mr. Garry POGONYAILO

Lawyer, Deputy Head of the

Committee

E-

mail: belhelcom@user.unibel.b

У

38

Berlin Bar Association Berlin; Germany

Dr. Margarete VON

GALEN President

39

**Bilgi University** 

Turkey

Ms. Idil ELVERIS

Lawyer

40

**Bishkek City Collegium of Advocates** 

Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan

Ms. Lubov IVANOVA

Lawyer

E-

Tel.: +996-502-51 40 60

mail: advokat\_ivanova@mail.ru

41

**Bobruisk Human Rights Center** 

Bobruisk; Belarus

Ms. Ludmila VINOKURTSEVA

Lawyer

42

**Brest Collegium of Advocates** 

Brest, Belarus

Mr. Ihar RABTSEVICH

Lawyer, Member of the Collegium

#### **Brick Court Chambers**

7-8 Essex Street; London WC2R 3LD; United Kingdom

Mr. Sydney KENTRIDGE

QC Barrister

mail: lyana.peniston@brickcour

t.co.uk

Tel.: +44-207-520 98 81 Fax: +44-207-379 35 58

44

## Caucasian Centre for Human Rights and Conflict Studies

Postal address: P.O. Box 228; 380008-Tbilisi; Georgia, Visiting address: Petriashvili

Str. 20; Tbilisi; Georgia http//www.ihf-hr.org

Tel.: +995-32-29 34 88

Fax: +995-32-29 34 88

Mr. Ramaz **REKHVIASHVILI** 

Chairman

E-mail: caucasia@geo.net.ge

Tel.: +995-32-29 34 88 Ms. Thea TABATADZE Fax: +995-32-29 34 88 Adviser

E-mail: caucasia@geo.net.ge

45

# Center for Combating the Trafficking in Women

68 Bucuresti Str., off. 308; MD-2012 Chisinau; Moldova

Tel.: +373-22-54 86 16

Mr. Ion VIZDOAGA Criminal Defence Lawyer

mail: vizdoga\_ion@yahoo.co.u

46

**Center for Legal Resources** 

Str. Arcului nr. 19, sector 2, cod 021034; Bucharest; Romania

http://www.crj.ro

Ms. Georgiana FUSU Law Program Co-ordinator

E-mail: georgianaf@crj.ro

Tel.: +40-21-212 06 90 Fax: +40-21-212 05 19

47

# Center for Protection of Human Rights in Transnistria

Mr. Iurii TAZOV Deputy President

48

## **Centre for International Legal Protection**

7, M. Kislovskiy per., office #22; Moscow; Russian Federation

Ms. Karinna **MOSKALENKO** 

Director

E-mail: mkarinna@mail.ru

Tel.: +7-095-291 10 74 Fax: +7-095-291 10 74

49

# Centre for Protection of Constitutional Rights (CPCR)

#8 Arakishvili Blind Alley.; Tbilisi; Georgia

Ms. Marina LEBANIDZE

Chairperson of the Board

E-

Tel.: +995-32-91 23 66 Fax: +995-32-91 23 67

50 Chamber of Advocates
Armenia

Mr. Georgiy MARTIROSYAN

Lawyer

51 Christian Khan and Co.

42 Museum Street; London WC1A 1LY; United Kingdom

Ms. Louise CHRISTIAN Tel.: +44-207-831 17 50 ext. 319

Senior Partner

E-

mail: louisec@christiankhan.co.

uk

52 City Collegium of Advocates
Samarkand; Uzbekistan

**Mr. Sharof** Tel.: +998-662-35 34 83

SALOHIDDINOV

Lawyer

E-mail: sharofiddin@hotbox.ru

Collegium of Advocates of the Republic of Tajikistan

Tajikistan

Mr. Naimjon AMIRBEKOV

Chairman

Ms. Mahira USMANOVA

Chairperson

54 East West Management Institute

University Building, Grabnicka 4; 71000 Sarajevo; Bosnia and Herzegovina http://www.ewmi.org

Ms. Lucy MARTIN Tel.: +387-33-21 96 88

Criminal Legal Aid Advisor E-mail: Imartin@ewmi.ba

Federal Chamber of Advocates, Moscow Region Chamber of Advocates

per. Syvtsev Vrazhek 43; 119002 Moscow; Russian Federation

Mr. Alexey GALOGANOV

Vice-President

56 Foundation for Fair Justice

Horkogo Str., 12b, office 2; 01004 Kyiv; Ukraine

Ms. Kateryna TARASOVA Tel.: +380-44-289 41 76

President

57 Georgian Bar Association

Tbilisi; Georgia

Mr. Kakha ASLANISHVILI

Chairman

8 Georgian Committee Against Torture

162, Tsinamdzgvrishvili st; 0112 Tbilisi; Georgia

Mr. Kakhaber GOGASHVILI

Chairman

E-mail: kakhg@caucasus.net

Tel.: +995-32-95 07 30 Fax: +995-32-92 25 66

Georgian Young Lawyers' Association

15 Krilovi Str.; 0102 Tbilisi; Georgia

**Ms. Anna DOLIDZE**Tel.: +995-32-93 61 01
Chairperson
Fax: +995-32-92 32 11

E-mail: adolidze@gyla.ge

Mr. Besarion ABASHIDZE Tel.: +995-32-91 08 83, 95 23 53

Legal Aid Center Co-ordinator Fax: +995-32-92 32 11

E-

59

mail: besoabashidze@gyla.ge

Mr. Girshel DZEBNIAURI Tel.: +995-32-91 08 83, 95 23 53

Criminal Lawyer Fax: +995-32-92 32 11

E-mail: gyla@gyla.ge

Mr. Rusudan TABATADZE

Lawyer

60

**GTZ - German Technical Cooperation** 

Rustaveli ave. 30; 0146 Tbilisi; Georgia http://www.gtz-law-caucasus.net

 Ms. Ira HARTMANN
 Tel.: +995-32-93 37 12

 Legal Trainee
 Fax: +995-32-99 77 64

E-mail: gtz\_law@geo.net.ge

61 Guild of Russian Lawyers

M. Poliyaroslavsky per. 3/5; 105120 Moscow; Russian Federation

 Mr. Gassan MIRZOEV
 Tel.: +7-095-917 82 48

 President
 Fax: +7-095-916 30 67

E-mail: advocat@gra.ru

62 Human Rights Centre

Tajikistan

Ms. Nurmahmada KHALILOVA

Director

Human Rights Information and Documentation Center

89/24 Agmashenebeli ave; 0102 Tbilisi; Georgia http://www.hridc.org

nttp://www.nndc.or

 Mr. Ucha NANUASHVILI
 Tel.: +995-99-50 80 36

 Executive Director
 Fax: +995-32-95 10 03

E-mail: hridc@hridc.org

ICNL

Turkmenbashy Shaely 15; 744000 Ashgabad; Turkmenistan

 Ms. Guljan BABAEVA
 Tel.: +993-12-35 30 92

 Member of Collegium of
 Fax: +993-12-35 30 41

Advocates

E-

65

64

mail: didar.hojayev@osce.org

IHF/Belarusian Helsinki Committee

68 - 1201, Libkneht Str.; 220036 Minsk; Belarus

Mr. Aleh HULAK

**Executive Director** 

E-

mail: belhelcom@user.unibel.b

66

IHF/Human Rights Center "Memorial", Nazran

Mutalieva Str. 46; Nazran; Russian Federation

Tel.: +375-17-222 48 00 Fax: +375-17-222 48 01

Mr. Dokka ITSLAEV

Head and Lawyer of the Urus-Martan office of "Memorial" E-mail: memorial@southnet.ru

Tel.: +7-873-222 23 49 Fax: +7-873-222 23 49

IHF/JURIX 67

P.O. Box 64; 125464 Moscow; Russian Federation

http://www.jurix.ru

Ms. Anita SOBOLEVA

Executive and Legal Director E-mail: asoboleva@jurix.ru

IHF/Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union

Tel.: +380-44-417 41 18

Fax: +380-44-417 41 18

Tel.: +7-095-981 13 18 Fax: +7-095-981 13 19

Olegivska str. 36, office 309; 04071 Kyiv; Ukraine

Mr. Yaroslav **HORDIYEVICH** 

Project Co-ordinator

68

mail: hordiyevych@helsinki.org

.ua

**Institute for Penal Reform** 

23 a, Bucuresti Str.; MD-2009 Chisinau; Moldova

http://www.irp.md

Tel.: +373-22-21 09 10 Mr. Igor DOLEA President, Lawyer Fax: +373-22-21 09 10

E-mail: idolea@irp.md

Tel.: +373-22-21 23 13 Mr. Mihail LUPU

President of the Special Legal

Bureau, Lawver

E-mail: mdlupu@mail.md

Tel.: +373-22-27 69 87 Mr. Victor ZAHARIA Head of Probation and

Institutional Reform

Department

E-mail: vzaharia@irp.md

Fax: +373-22-21 09 10

70

International Helsinki Federation for Human Rights

Wickenburggasse 14/7; A-1080 Vienna; Austria

http://www.ihf-hr.org

Ms. Lamija MUZUROVIC

Project Co-ordinator

E-mail: muzurovic@ihf-hr.org

Tel.: +43-1-408 88 22-42 Fax: +43-1-408 88 22-50

71

International League for Human Rights

229 East 45th Street, 5th Floor; New York, NY 10017; U.S.A.

http://www.ilhr.org

Mr. Peter ZALMAYEV

CIS Program Manager E-mail: pzalmayev@ilhr.org

Tel.: +1-212-661 04 80 Fax: +1-212-661 04 16 72

## **International Renaissance Foundation**

vul. Artema, 46; 04053 Kyiv; Ukraine http://www.irf.kiev.ua

Mr. Roman ROMANOV
Rule of Law Program Manager
E-mail: romanov@irf.kiev.ua

Tel.: +380-44-246 83 63 Fax: +380-44-216 76 29

Fax: +380-44-2

73

## **Ivanovo Chamber of Advocates**

Ivanovo; Russian Federation

Mr. Oleg SPERANSKY

Lawyer

74

## **Juvenile Justice Defence Group**

Kazakhstan

Ms. Gulshat KUSHERBAYEVA Tel.: +7-3272-25 41 31 Fax: +7-3272-25 41 31

Lawyer

E-mail: women\_law@nursat.kz

75

#### **Kosovo Chamber of Attorneys**

Str. Trepca No. 18; Pristhina, Kosovo; Serbia and Montenegro

Mr. Musa DRAGUSHA

Mr. Ahmet HASOLLI

Lawyer

Tel.: +377-44-11 24 35

Tel.: +377-44-50 13 69 Fax: +381-38-24 54 76

Lawyer E-

mail: ahmethasolli@yahoo.com

76

## **Lawyer Office - Ivan Tomic**

Dr. A. Starcevica 32c; 88000 Mostar; Bosnia and Herzegovina

Mr. Ivan TOMIC Lawyer

E-

77

mail: advokat.tomic@tel.net.ba

Tel.: +387-63-31 64 25 Fax: +387-36-32 69 64

Lawyer Office - Rujevic Vesna

Peetra Kocica 17; 78000 Banjaluka; Bosnia and Herzegovina

Ms. Vesna RUJEVIC
Lawyer

E-mail: rujevic@inecco.net

Tel.: +387-65-58 02 04 Fax: +387-51-32 04 60

Lawyer Office in Zagreb

Jurisiceva 1A; Zagreb; Croatia

 Ms. Davorka GALIC
 Tel.: +385-1-482 81 81

 Lawyer Trainee
 Fax: +385-1-482 81 81

E-

78

mail: davorkagalic@yahoo.com

Legal Aid Service of Georgia Georgia

79

80

Ms. Tamta KACHAKIDZE

Director

Legal Consultation Office for Protection of the Journalists' Rights

## at the Tashkent city Collegium of Advocates

3, block 14, Chilanzar -11, Chilanzar district; 700000 Tashkent; Uzbekistan

Mrs. Galina MAYOROVA

Director E-

mail: edlex2003@yahoo.co.uk

Tel.: +998-90-167 89 27

81 Legal Education Society

Shamil Azizbeyov 199, a. 7; Baku; Azerbaijan

 Mr. Intigam ALIYEV
 Tel.: +994-12-498 81 75

 President
 Fax: +994-12-449 81 92

E-mail: legal@azeri.com

Leonard Cyrson - Advocate

Al. Marcinkowskiego 1/7; 61-745 Poznan; Poland

**Mr. Leonard CYRSON**Advocate

Tel.: +48-61-850 13 93
Fax: +48-61-850 15 23

E-mail: kancelaria@cyrson-

jarocha.pl

82

Marmara Group Strategic and Social Research Foundation

Barbarbaros Bulvari, IBA Bloklari No. 16/2; Balmumcu-Istanbul; Turkey http://www.marmaragrubu.org

 Mrs. Mujgan SUVER
 Tel.: +90-212-213 05 56

 Chairperson
 Fax: +90-212-213 05 59

Chairpeisc E-

E-

83

mail: marmaragrubu@superonli

ne.com

 Mrs. Leyla TAVSANOGLU
 Tel.: +90-212-213 05 56

 Member of the Academic
 Fax: +90-212-213 05 59

Council of the Marmara

Foundation

E-

84

mail: marmaragrubu@superonli

ne.com

**Minsk Collegium of Advocates** 

Minsk; Belarus

Mr. Pavel SAPELKA

Lawyer, Member of the

Collegium

Moldavian State University, Law Faculty

60, A. Mateevici Str.; MD-2009 Chisinau; Moldova

**Dr. Igor CIOBANU** Tel.: +373-22-44 72 79

Lawyer, Lecturer

**Moscow City Chamber of Advocates** 

Moscow; Russian Federation

Mr. Nikolay KIPNIS

Lawyer

87

86

**Moscow State Law Academy** 

Tel.: +7-095-244 85 01

Sadovo-Kudrinskaya Str. 9; 123242 Moscow; Russian Federation

Prof. Svetlana VOLODINA

Chair of Trial Advocacy Fax: +7-095-244 85 01

E-mail: s.volodina@bk.ru

88 National Bar Association of the Republic of Moldova

53A Banulescu Bodoni Str.; MD-2012 Chisinau; Moldova

 Mr. Gheorge
 Tel.: +373-22-22 19 10

 AMIHALACHIOAIE
 Fax: +373-22-22 19 10

President

89

Norwegian Mission of Legal Advisors to Georgia - NORLAG

19A, Tabukashivili Str.; Tbilisi; Georgia

 Ms. Eva LYNGHJEM
 Tel.: +995-32-98 25 64

 Assiatant Chief of Police
 Fax: +995-32-98 25 64

E-mail: e.lynghjem@norlag.ge

90 Novgorod Chamber of Advocates

Nikolskaya Str. 4; 173000 Veliky Novgorod; Russian Federation

Mr. Liudmila BELOVA

Vice-President

91 Office of the Public Defender

210 West Temple Street; Los Angeles, CA 90012; U.S.A.

Mr. Michael P. JUDGE

Public Defender

92 Open Society Assistance - Georgia

10, Chovelidze Str.; 0108 Tbilisi; Georgia

 Ms. Tamuna KALDANI
 Tel.: +995-32-25 04 63

 Law Program Co-ordinator
 Fax: +995-32-29 10 52

E-mail: kaldani@osgf.ge

93 Open Society Fund for Serbia

Zmaj Jovina 34; 11000 Belgrade; Serbia and Montenegro

 Mr. Mihajlo COLAK
 Tel.: +381-11-302 58 00

 Law Program Co-ordinator
 Fax: +381-11-328 36 02

E-mail: mcolak@fosserbia.org

Open Society Institute - Human Rights Grants and Governance Program

Oktober 6 u. 12; 1051 Budapest; Hungary http://www.soros.org/initiatives/hrggp

 Mr. Yervand SHIRINYAN
 Tel.: +36-1-327 31 00

 Program Manager
 Fax: +36-1-327 31 01

E-mail: shirinyan@osi.hu

94

95

96

**Open Society Institute Assistance Foundation, Armenia** 

1, Pushkin Str., apt. 2; 375 010 Yerevan; Armenia

http://www.osi.am

 Mr. David AMIRYAN
 Tel.: +374-10-54 21 19

 Law Program Director
 Fax: +374-10-54 21 19

E-mail: adavid@osi.am

**Open Society Institute Assistance Foundation, Tajikistan** 

59, Tolstoy str.; 734003 Dushanbe; Tajikistan

 Ms. Sabina SALIKHOVA
 Tel.: +992-372-21 19 58

 Program Director
 Fax: +992-372-51 01 42

E-mail: sabina@osi.tajik.net

## Mr. Abdurazok **ALIMARDONOV**

Law Program Assistant

E-

mail: abdurazok@osi.tajik.net

Tel.: +992-372-21 19 58 Fax: +992-372-52 01 42

97

98

99

# Open Society Institute Foundation - the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia

Bul. Jane Sandanski 111; 1000 Skopje; the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia http://www.soros.org.mk

Tel.: +389-2-244 44 88 ext. 117 Ms. Roska ILIJEVSKA Fax: +389-2-244 44 99 Legal Assistant

E-mail: riliev@soros.org.mk

Open Society Institute-Sofia

56, Solunska Str.; Sofia 1000; Bulgaria

http://www.osf.bg

Tel.: +359-2-930 66 38 Mr. Martin Fax: +359-2-951 63 48 **GRAMMATIKOV** 

Law Program Co-ordinator E-mail: mgrammatikov@osf.bg

**Open Society Justice Initiative** 

Nador u. 11, 4th Floor; H-1051 Budapest; Hungary http://www.justiceinitiative.org

Tel.: +36-1-327 31 09 Mr. Zaza NAMORADZE Director of Budapest Office Fax: +36-1-327 31 03

E-mail: namoradz@osi.hu

Tel.: +36-1-327 31 00 ext. 2144 Ms. Nadejda

Fax: +36-1-327 31 03 **HRIPTIEVSCHI** 

Junior Legal Officer

E-mail: nhriptievschi@osi.hu

Tel.: +36-1-327 31 09 Ms. Umida Fax: +36-1-327 31 03 KHUSANKHODJAEVA

Lawyer

100

E-mail: justicefellow@osi.hu

Open Society Justice Initiative, U.S.A.

400 West 59th Street; New York, NY 10019; U.S.A.

http://www.justiceinitiative.org

Mr. Valerie WATTENBERG

Senior Advisor

mail: vwattenberg@justiceinitiat

ive.org

101

Tel.: +1-212-548 06 00 Fax: +1-212-548 46 62

**Open Society Justice Initiative in Almaty** 

97 Makataev. Str.; 480004 Almaty; Kazakhstan

Ms. Nazgul YERGALIEVA

Legal Officer

E-mail: nergalieva@osi.hu

Tel.: +7-3272-78 01 11

Fax: +7-3272-79 88 11

**Pavlodar Oblast Bar Association** 

Tel.: +7-3182-56 45 57

Fax: +7-3182-56 45 57

6 Toraigyrov Str., office 63; 140005 Pavlodar; Kazakhstan

Ms. Svetlana **KOVLYAGINA** 

Defence Lawyer E-

mail: HR\_monitoring@nursat.k

Z

103 Press Center for Khodorkovsky/Lebedev Defence Attorneys

Moscow; Russian Federation, http://www.khodorkovsky.ru

 Ms. Natalia
 Tel.: +7-095-364 33 33

 VINOGRADOVA
 Fax: +7-095-364 33 33

E-mail: info@khodorkovsky.ru

**Public Attorney Office of Georgia** 

Georgia

Mr. Giorgi GIORGADZE

Lawyer

104

Ms. Nino ELIASHVILI

Lawyer

Mr. Pavit KAGHIA Tel.: +995-32-75 82 16

Member of the Board

Ms. Gela SIORDIA

Lawyer

105 Public Defender's Office

Yerevan; Armenia

Mr. Mikayel PHILIPOSYAN

Head of Public Defender's

Office

106 Public Defenders Office

4, Bulgaria Blvd., entr. B; 5000 Veliko Tarnovo; Bulgaria

Ms. Gratsiela GEORGIEVA Tel.: +359-62-62 73 82

Lawyer

E-mail: graziela@abv.bg

Mr. Alexandar PENCHEV Tel.: +359-62-62 73 82

Lawyer

E-mail: apenchev@lex.bg

107 RBS Ltd

217 Moskovskaya Str.; Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan

**Mr. Sergey SLESAREV**Lawyer

Tel.: +996-312-65 00 12
Fax: +996-312-65 01 28

E-mail: rbs\_ltd@elcat.kg

108 Republican Party of Turkmenistan in exile

Seisgasse 6; 1040 Vienna; Austria http://www.tmrepublican.org

**Mr. Boris** Tel.: +7-926-540 90 48

SHIKHMURADOV

Human Rights and Legal

Officer F-

109

mail: office@tmrepublican.org

Russian Lawyer's Committee in Defence of Human Rights

Gagarinskaya Str. 42, apt. 12; 191187 St. Petersburg; Russian Federation

Mr. Yury M. SCHMIDT Tel.: +7-812-327 35 09

Chairman

E-mail: vschmidt@rol.ru

110 Samara Chamber of Advocates

Kuibisheva Str. 48; 443099 Samara; Russian Federation

Fax: +7-812-579 03 71

Ms. Tatyana
BUTOVCHENKO

President

111

Soros Foundation - Kazakhstan

Furmanova 117-20; 480091 Almaty; Kazakhstan

Fax: +7-3272-50 38 14

http://www.soros.kz

Tel.: +7-3272-50 38 11, 58 89 83

Ms. Svetlana BEKMAMBETOVA

Director

mail: sbekmambetova@soros.k

Juvenile Justice Project

Z

112

Soros Foundation - Kyrgyzstan

Logvinenko 55-a str.; 720040 Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan

http://www.soros.kg

**Mr. Ruslan KHAKIMOV** Tel.: +996-312-66 34 75, 66 34 95

Law Program Co-ordinator Fax: +996-312-66 34 48

E-mail: ruslan@soros.kg

113 Soros Foundation - Moldova

32, Bulgara Str.; MD-2001 Chisinau; Moldova

 Mr. Victor MUNTEANU
 Tel.: +373-22-27 00 31

 Law Program Director
 Fax: +373-22-27 05 07

E-mail: vmunteanu@soros.md

114 South-Kazakhstan Bar Association

5, Baytursynov str.; Symkent; Kazakhstan

 Mr. Meles SEITZHANOV
 Tel.: +7-3252-53 49 88

 Member of the Presidium
 Fax: +7-3252-54 04 12

E-mail: lex\_service@rambler.ru

Specialized Legal Consultation Office on Economic Issues and Protection of Property Rights at Tashkent city Collegium of Advocates

18, Nukus Street, Mirobod district; 700060 Tashkent; Uzbekistan

Mrs. Olga ZIMAREVA Tel.: +998-71-255 89 28

Director E-

115

mail: Ildar.Fayzullin@osce.org

116 Ukrainian Helsinki Human Rights Union

Olegivska str. 36, office 309; 04071 Kyiv; Ukraine

Mr. Arkadiy BUSHCHENKO

Lawyer

 Mr. Yaroslav
 Tel.: +380-44-417 41 18

 HORDIYEVYCH
 Fax: +380-44-417 41 18

Project Co-ordinator

E-

mail: hordiyevych@helsinki.org

.ua

Union of Advocates of Kyrgyzstan

Kyrgyzstan

Ms. Gulniza KOJOMOVA

Lawyer, Chairperson

118 Union of Lawyers

Imanov Street 20, office 4; 010000 Astana; Kazakhstan

**Mr. Anuar TUGEL** Tel.: +7-3172-58 08 76

President

119 Varna District Court

57 VI. Varnenchik Blvd.; 9000 Varna; Bulgaria

**Ms. Miglena TACHEVA**Tel.: +359-52-60 20 28

Judge

Fax: +359-52-61 22 05

·

Vilnius Law Office for Full-Time Legal Aid
Kastonu Str. 3-1a; LT-2001 Vilnius; Lithuania

 Mr. Rymvidas
 Tel.: +370-5-264 74 85

 PETRAUSKAS
 Fax: +370-5-264 74 81

Lawyer

E-mail: r.petrauskas@lithill.lt

 Ms. Maryte
 Tel.: +370-5-264 74 88

 BARTASEVICIUTE
 Fax: +370-5-264 74 81

Lawyer

E-mail: maribar@lithill.lt

 Ms. Inga
 Tel.: +370-5-264 74 85

 ABRAMAVICIUTE
 Fax: +370-5-264 74 81

Apprentice

E-

121

mail: i.abramavisiute@infolex.lt

Youth Human Rights Group

41B, Moskovskaya Street, apt. 8; 720021 Bishkek; Kyrgyzstan http://www.yhrg.elcat.kg

**Ms. Maria LISITSYNA** Tel.: +996-312-68 13 70 Director Fax: +996-312-68 10 91

E-mail: yhrg95@gmail.com

gmail.com

# Other organizations / participants

Lawyers, Armenia

Ms. Anjela KARAPETYAN

Lawyer

2 Lawyers, Azerbaijan

Ms. Latifa ALIEVA

Lawyer

3

## Lawyers, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Tel.: +387-31-71 43 93

Fax: +387-31- 71 43 93

Ms. Sanela HIDANOVIC

Lawyer

mail: sanela.hidanovic@tel.net.

ba

Ms. Nebosa PANTIC

Lawyer

Lawyers, Croatia

Ms. Dalija ORESKOVIC

Lawyer

5

Lawyers, Kazakhstan

Ms. Gulshat KUSHERBAEVA

Lawyer

# Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights

Aleje Ujazdowskie 19, 00-557 Warsaw, Poland.

Tel.: +48-22 520 06 00; Fax: +48-22 520 06 05; E-mail: office@odihr.pl http://www.osce.org/odihr/

Amb. Christian STROHAL Ext.: +48-22-520 06 00

Director

E-mail: office@odihr.pl

Mr. Maximilian HENNIG Ext.: 3116

Special Adviser to the Director

E-

mail: Maximilian.Hennig@odihr

.pl

Mr. Curtis BUDDEN Ext.: 3123

Public Affairs Officer

E-mail: Curtis.Budden@odihr.pl

Mr. Vladimir Ext.: 4150 SHKOLNIKOV

Head of Democratization

Department E-

mail: Vladimir.Shkolnikov@odih

r.pl

Ms. Cynthia ALKON Ext.: 4131

Head of Rule of Law Unit

E-mail: Cynthia.Alkon@odihr.pl

Mr. Vasily VASHCHANKA Ext.: 4130

Rule of Law Officer

E-

mail: Vasily.Vashchanka@odih

r.pl

Mr. Goetz BRINKMANN Ext.: 4133

Rule of Law Adviser

E-

mail: Goetz.Brinkmann@odihr.

pl Mr. Frank LEDWIDGE Ext.: 4188 Rule of Law Adviser (ODIHR Anti-Torture Focal Point) mail: Frank.Ledwidge@odihr.pl Mr. Lars GEROLD Ext.: 4132 Rule of Law Expert E-mail: Lars.Gerold@odihr.pl Ms. Tiina ILSEN Ext.: 4172 Head of Gender Unit E-mail: Tiina.llsen@odihr.pl Ms. Nana KALANDADZE Ext.: 4171 Gender Officer Email: nana.kalandadze@odihr. Ext.: 4161 Mr. Jakhongir **AZIZKHODJAEV** NGO & Democratic Governance Officer E-mail: Jakhongir@odihr.pl Ext.: 4126 Ms. Marta ACHLER-**SZELENBAUM** Legal Expert/Legislative Support Unit E-mail: Marta.Achler-Szelenbaum@odihr.pl Ext.: 4198 Ms. Alina CHRISTOVA Legal Expert/Legislative Support Unit mail: Alina.Christova@odihr.pl Ext.: 4242 Ms. Susanne **RINGGAARD-PEDERSEN** Head of Human Rights Department E-mail: Susanne.Ringgaard-Pedersen@odihr.pl Ext.: 4192 Ms. Susan ALEGRE Adviser on Anti-Terrorism Issues E-mail: Susan.Alegre@odihr.pl Ext.: 4152 **Ms. Astrid GANTERER** Anti-Trafficking Expert Fmail: Astrid.Ganterer@odihr.pl Ext.: 1113 Mr. John GLEASON Legal Adviser E-mail: john.gleason@odihr.pl Ms. Beata Ext.: 3120 **DOBROWOLSKA** Executive Assistant to the Director Email: Beata.Dobrowolska@odih

Mr. Bartlomiej LIPINSKI

mail: Bartlomiej.Lipinski@odihr.

**Budget Assistant** 

Ext.: 2131

pΙ

Ms. Anna SIERANT Ext.: 4121

Administrative Assistant E-mail: Anna.Sierant@odihr.pl

Mr. Ireneusz STEPINSKI Ext.: 2136

Senior Conference Services Assistant

F-

mail: Ireneusz. Stepinski@odihr

.pl

Ms. Monika WOJTOWICZ Ext.: 4181

Administrative Assistant

E-

mail: Monika.Wojtowicz@odihr.

Amb. Gela

pΙ

**Keynote Speaker, Introducers, Moderator** and Rapporteurs

Amb. Christian STROHAL Remarks at the

**BAZHUASHVILI** 

Opening Plenary

Session

Remarks at the Opening Plenary

Session

Amb. Jozica PUHAR Remarks at the

Opening Plenary

Session

Mr. Konstantine KEMULARIA Remarks at the

Opening Plenary

Session

Mr. Sydney KENTRIDGE QC Keynote Speaker

of the Opening

Session

Mr. Michael P. JUDGE Introducer at the

Session I

Dr. Daniyar KANAFIN Introducer at the

Session I

Ms. Cynthia ALKON Moderator of the

Session I, II and

Ш

Mr. Goetz BRINKMANN Rapporteur of

the Session I

Dr. Margarete VON GALEN Introducer at the

Session II

Mr. Leonard CYRSON Introducer at the

Session II

Mr. Vasily VASHCHANKA Rapporteur of

the Session II

Ms. Louise CHRISTIAN Introducer at the

Session III

Mr. Yury M. SCHMIDT Introducer at the

Session III

Mr. Frank LEDWIDGE Rapporteur of

the Session III